

University of Strathclyde

Strathclyde Institute of Pharmacy and Biomedical Sciences (SIPBS)

The expression of IL-22 during the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)

Ava Noofeli

A Report presented in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Philosophy (MPhil)

2014

Contents

Abstract	3
List of abbreviations	5
Chapter 1: Introduction	8
1.1 Multiple sclerosis (MS)	11
1.1.1 Etiology and epidemiology of MS	12
1.1.2 MS clinical subtypes and current therapies	13
1.2 Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis (EAE)	17
1.3 Immunopathogenesis of MS and EAE	19
1.3.1 CD4 ⁺ T-cell function in CNS autoimmunity	26
1.3.2 T-regulatory cells in MS/EAE	30
1.4 IL-22 and its role in inflammation	33
1.5 Research aims	36
Chapter 2: Material and methods	37
2.1 Buffers and solutions	38
2.2 EAE induction and clinical evaluation	39
2.3 Tissue harvesting and cryosectioning	40
2.4 Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining	41
2.5 Luxol Fast Blue staining	42
2.6 Antigen specific immune responses of immune cells	43
2.7 ELISA	44
2.8 RNA extraction and reverse transcription (RT-PCR)	46
2.9 Real-time PCR	48
2.10 Immunohistochemical colour staining	49
2.11 Double fluorescence immunohistochemical staining	50
2.12 Statistical analysis	52
Chapter 3: Results	53
Introduction	54
3.1 EAE development	55
3.2 Histology of SC tissues in naïve and EAE mice	60
3.3 Cytokines expression in serum and spleen cell supernatant	63
3.4 mRNA expression of IL-22, IL-22R and IL-17A in SC of naïve and EAE mice	67
3.5 IL-22 expression in naïve and EAE SC tissues	70
3.6 Co-localization of IL-22 with CNS resident cells	73
Chapter 4: Discussion	83
References	97

Abstract

Interleukin (IL)-22 (IL-22) is a member of the IL-10 family, which is an important regulator of the inflammatory response. IL-22 is produced by Th17 cells, which play a key immunopathogenic role in many immune disorders. However, the exact function of IL-22 in the development of central nervous system (CNS) inflammatory diseases such as multiple sclerosis (MS) remains unclear. This study aims to understand better the role of IL-22 in the development of MS disease by examining its expression levels in the peripheral immune organs and CNS spinal cord (SC) tissues of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) mice and investigates whether the expression levels of IL-22 correlate with the CNS inflammation.

EAE was induced by immunizing C57BL/6 female mice with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide emulsified in Complete Freunds Adjuvant (CFA) subcutaneously, together with intraperitoneal injection of pertussis toxin (PTX). EAE clinical score was recorded daily and spleen and SC tissues were harvested at days 9, 17 and 28 post-immunization to assess cytokine secretion profile and tissue pathology. Our data demonstrate that MOG₃₅₋₅₅ immunized mice start to develop EAE around day 9 and reached peak at day 15 while PBS-CFA immunized mice remained unaffected. ELISA data of the spleen cell cultures show that cells from MOG-CFA immunized mice produced higher levels of antigenspecific IL-22, IL-17A and IFN- γ at day 9 and day 17 when compared with PBS immunized mice. Furthermore, immunohistological staining data show that whilst naïve/PBS-CFA SC tissues expressed IL-22, the expression level was significantly increased in the SC of MOG-CFA mice at day 9 and 17. Furthermore, IL-22 was generally detected in both white and grey matter within the SC and was highly expressed by astrocytes (and not axons or neurons) in EAE at the peak of inflammation. Our data therefore suggest that IL-22 may play a pathogenic role in the neurological autoimmune diseases, possibly through divergent roles in both the peripheral immune and CNS systems.

List of abbreviations

Ags: antigens

APC: antigen presenting cell

BBB: blood brain barrier

BBB-ECs: blood brain barrier- endothelial cells

BECs: brain endothelial cells

CCR: chemokine receptor

CFA: complete freunds adjuvant

CNS: central nervous system

CSF: cerebrospinal fluid

DA: EAE susceptible

DC: dendritic cells

DC1P: DA.PVG-Eae29

EAE: experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis

FCS: foetal calf serum

FOXP3⁺: forkhead box P3

GA: glatiramer acetate

GWAS: genome-wide association studies

HLA: human leukocyte antigen

HRP: horseradish peroxidase

IFN-γ: interferon gamma

IHC: immunohistochemical staining

IF: immunofluorescence staining

IL: interleukin

IL-22: interleukin-22

IL-22BP: IL-22 binding protein

IMT: immunomodulatory therapies

Jak: janus kinase

LN: lymph node

LTi: leukocyte lymphoid tissue inducer cells

MBP: myelin basic protein

MOG₃₃₋₃₅: myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) 33-35 peptide

MHC: major histocompatibility (MHC)-II

MS: multiple sclerosis

MRI: magnetic resonance imaging

NK: natural killer cells

NKT: natural killer T-cells

ON: overnight

PBS: phosphate buffered saline

PLP: proteolipid protein

PPMS: primary progressive multiple sclerosis

PRMS: progressive relapsing multiple sclerosis

PTX: pertussis toxin

PVG: EAE resistant

RBC: red blood cell

ROR-yt: retinoid-related orphan receptors

ROS: reactive oxygen species

RRMS: relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis

RT: room temperature

SAS: subarachnoid space

SC: spinal cord

SP: spleen

SPMS: secondary progressive multiple sclerosis

STAT: signal transducer and activator of transcription

STEWS: scott's tap water substitute

T-bet: transcription factor

TBS: tris-buffered saline

TBST: TBS-tween

TGF- β : transforming growth factor- β

Th1: T-helper 1

Th17: T-helper 17

T_{reg}: regulatory T-cells

Tyk2: tyrosine kinase 2

Chapter 1: Introduction

The immune system has evolved and developed in many different ways to protect the body against many threats such as evolving pathogens including parasites and bacteria (1). The immune cells express many receptors to ensure the evolving pathogens are constantly recognized as the pathogen-antigens by lymphocytes specific receptors leading to clonal expansion of pathogen-specific lymphocytes and the clearance of these pathogens. However it is crucial for immune cells to have the ability to distinguish a selfantigen from a foreign antigen so that they will not mount an immune response towards self-tissues (2). The immune system overcomes this problem by mechanisms of selftolerance. During the lymphocyte development in the central lymphoid organs, once the receptors have been generated randomly, those self-reactive immune cells will become eliminated. Some self-reactive immune cells that escape to the periphery will become potential threat to health by reacting towards self-tissues and inducing autoimmunity (3, 4). The associated pathogenesis in autoimmunity most often involves self-reactive T helper (Th) cells that cause secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines leading to inflammation. These self-reactive T-cells have the ability to help autoreactive B-cells in expansion and maturation leading to production of not only autoantibodies but also secretion of inflammatory cytokines, which will contribute to more tissue inflammation and damage. Therefore, these autoreactive T-cells are the prime cause of autoimmunity induction and tissue inflammation as they are not only able to bind specifically to selfantigens but more importantly can induce inflammation through their effector functions (5). When self or cross-reactive antigens interact with receptors, T helper cells are activated followed by expansion and differentiation into different T-cell subsets. The Tcell subsets each have different properties depending on the cytokine they produce. The

currently recognized effector subsets include Th1, Th2, Th17, Th22 and the regulatory T-cells (T_{Regs}). The contribution of these T-cell subsets in induction and immune regulation is discussed in more depth later.

1.1 Multiple sclerosis (MS)

MS is prolonged and progressive inflammatory autoimmune disease of CNS resulting in demyelination and neurodegeneration (6). The cause of MS is not clear, but different factors such as vitamin D deficiency, genetic background and many environmental and immune factors can contribute to the disease development (7). The main hallmark of MS is the presence of inflammatory plaques in CNS that can be determined either histopathologically or by using magnetic resonance imagining (MRI) (8). Different studies looking at the brain lesions of MS samples have demonstrated the presence of inflammatory cells mediated by pathogenic T cells against antigens of myelin. Thus these pathogenic T cells are regarded as the main effector cells in MS development (9). The main T lymphocytes involved are the Th1 and Th17 cells, which produce proinflammatory cytokines such as IFN-y and IL-17 (10-12). For decades MS has been accepted as the CD4+ T-helper1 (Th1) mediated disease. This hypothesis was based on the early results obtained from studies using animal models of MS: experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), where IFN- γ producing CD4⁺ T cells were able to induce EAE in naïve mice after adoptive transfer (13-15). However the Th1 pathogenic effector dichotomy was questioned when Kroenke *et al* reported that either the Th1 or Th17 cells can induce EAE with clinical paralysis after being adoptively transferred into naïve mice however with different levels of pathology (16), suggesting Th1 cells are unlikely to be the sole player in causing tissue destruction in EAE and that the intensity of EAE may vary depending on cytokine production by the disease inducing T cells (17). The data suggest Th1 cells are unlikely to be the sole player in causing tissue destruction in EAE and that the intensity of EAE may vary depending on cytokine production profile

by the disease inducing T cells (12). Thus it becomes important to understand the precise role of these pro-inflammatory cytokines in MS and EAE pathogenesis.

1.1.1 Etiology and epidemiology of MS

It is estimated that there are about 127,000 and 2.5 million MS patients in UK and world wide respectively. MS is a disease of all ages, the symptoms can start initially any time between the ages of 10 to 80 but they commonly begin between the age of 20 and 40 with an average age of 32 (18). Interestingly, the incidence of MS varies depending on the residence location with general increase the further away from the equator in either hemisphere, suggesting an important environmental factor that impacts the prevalence of MS. This however remains ambiguous whether the increase in MS incident represents a genuine environmental influence, or genetic difference or simply a result of variable surveillance. The Genome-Wide Association Studies (GWAS) have been conducted with an aim of identifying common genetic variants important in disease susceptibility of MS. The effect of an environmentally dependent genetic risk locus was modeled and showed that despite a relatively low overall odds ratio, environmental exposure was able to conceal a large true effect size on disease susceptibility in exposed individuals. This model was applied to vitamin-D deficiency in MS and raised the possibility of large magnitudes of concealed effect in loci responsive to vitamin D in this disease. However, in the post-GWAS era, efforts should be made to elucidate potential gene environment interactions involved in complex traits in order for true effects on disease risk to be realised (19). Other genetic studies have been carried out to show associations between MS and polymorphic alleles of candidate genes, which regulate either the immune response or the myelin production and found that major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-II is the most consistent gene in case-control studies (20-22). MHC-II molecules play a crucial role in controlling adaptive immune responses through selection of CD4+ T-cell repertoire in the thymus and antigen presentation in the periphery. Patients with autoimmune disorders have shown inherited susceptibility associated with particular MHC-II alleles (23). The gene of MHC-II, human leukocyte antigen (HLA), is responsible for functioning of many immune responses as well as influencing susceptibility to over 40 diseases.

1.1.2 MS clinical subtypes and current therapies

The key neurological symptoms of MS is determined by the damage against myelin sheaths (demyelination) and neurons, which leads to neuronal signal conduction blockage or conduction slowing (24). During clinical recovery, inflammation and oedema in the CNS resolves and it is thought that CNS conduction is repaired due to glial ensheathment and re-myelination however axonal loss is irreversible.

The diagnosis of MS is difficult as it is based on patient clinical signs and symptoms, which are very broad and non-specific. The diagnosis often relies on MRI examination together with the clinical evidence. There are a few criteria clinically to identify MS from other neurological diseases. The Schumacher criteria were established in 1965 capturing the essence of the MS diagnosis that required dissemination of CNS lesions in space and over time. In addition the patients were required to be between the age of 10 and 50 and possess objective abnormalities on examination, both of which are now outdated. The new criteria from the Revised International Panel on MS diagnosis are the latest attempt to clearly define diagnostic criterion for MS (18).

Clinically MS has been divided into four different subtypes based on their clinical manifestations, however the different categories do not reflect specific biological pathophysiology (25). Relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS) is one of the most common forms of MS where symptoms usually occur for a short period of time, lasting several days to several weeks, and the experienced symptoms usually resolve spontaneously after they appear. However sometimes the inflammatory accumulation and tissue damage persists after many years, this typically enters the patients to secondary progressive stage of MS (SPMS) where the previous neurological impairments gradually worsens. Relapses associated with SPMS are usually detected at the early stages but it becomes uncommon as the disease progresses over time. 15% of MS patients show gradual worsening symptoms from the onset of the disease without any clinical relapses, this is defined as the primary progressive MS (PPMS). The PPMS patients are generally older and present less abnormalities on brain MRI (26). Another form of MS is the progressive relapsing MS (PRMS), which is defined by the gradual worsening of the neurological symptoms from disease onset followed by superimposed relapses (27). PRMS is suspected to represent SPMS in which initial relapses were un-recognized, or clinically silent. The typical symptoms associated with relapses involve: episodes of numbness, weakness and dyscoordination of an arm, leg or both. MS affects any area of the brain, optic nerve or SC and cause changes to sensory and/or motor neuron effecting one side of the body. Also brainstem damage can manifest as diplopia and resulting in altered sensation in face and/or ataxia (28).

Currently there is no cure for MS. The initial treatment used for MS starts during the acute relapse phase where corticosteroids are given to shorten the length of relapse with possible long-term improvement outcome. After the acute relapse is treated, diseasemodifying therapy becomes the focus. Current disease-modifying therapies attempt to target the neural tissue damage by either preventing or reducing the long-term risk of clinically significant disabilities (28), and immune-suppression immunomodulatory therapies (IMTs) are the most effective in active relapsing stages of the disease (29). IFN- 1β clinical treatments such as Avonex, Betaseron and Rebif work by altering the inflammatory response through specific receptors that help to modulate T and B cells cytokine expression. IFN- β is considered as one of the most effective first line therapies (30). However, one third of RRMS patients using IMTs tend to develop recurrent relapses and/or show an increase in sustained disability and some patients develop neutralizing antibodies to IFN- β regardless (31). Another first line therapy for RRMS is the Glatiramer acetate (GA), a random polypeptide based on the amino-acid structure of myelin protein (Alanine, Glutamine, Lysine, Tyrosine) that works as a potential immunochemical mimic of myelin and suppresses antigen-specific immune responses through altering autoreactive regulatory T-cells (T_{Regs}) more than it decreases inflammation (32-34). For patients with worsening RRMS and early SPMS with on-going inflammation, Mitoxantrone chemotherapy is used to reduce clinical relapses and progression of disability by arresting the cell cycle and inhibiting DNA replication as well as interfering with DNA repair and RNA synthesis that reduces immune proliferation. Another significantly more effective therapy than IFN- β and GA is the Natalizumab therapy (35). Natalizumab is a monoclonal antibody that inhibits cell trafficking from circulating into CNS and is proven useful in

reducing inflammation and improving clinical symptoms of patients (18, 36). However this therapy imposes risks and potential fatal complications as there are many cases of multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) developed after receiving the treatment (37). Additionally cyclophosphamide has been used in MS treatment for over 40 years, it has selective effects on the immune response and works by suppressing the Th1 and Th17 responses as well as enhancing the secretion of IL-4, IL-10 and TGF- β anti-inflammatory cytokines. Like most IMTs, cyclophosphamide has limited efficacy in PPMS or SPMS, as the clinical symptoms are often latent. This latency leads to slow clinical deterioration that can go unnoticed in the absence of relapses or inflammatory changes on MRI. Cyclophosphamide can however be used as a second-line therapy in patients unresponsive to IFN- β or GA for treating relapsing or actively progressive MS (38, 39). All the mentioned therapies, however efficient in reducing clinical relapses or progression of disability in patients, have numerous side effects, some of which are expected whilst others unanticipated and rare. This highlights the potential risks for serious and rare conditions that may arise during the process of these therapies, thus it is important that we understand better of the immunopathogenic mechanisms of MS disease in the aim to develop novel therapeutic strategies for patients.

1.2 Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis (EAE)

To understand better the immunobiology of MS disease and the other heterogeneous disorders in CNS, EAE animal model is often used to a heterogeneous group of disorders that affect the CNS tissues (40-43). The histopathological observations obtained during the disease course of EAE as well as the immune mechanisms and risk genes resemble those found in MS patients, thus EAE has generally been shown to be a useful model to understand the progressive clinical course of MS and study the CNS pathology mediated by the immune system. EAE can be induced in different species and strains of animals. The mono-phase EAE in C57BL/6 mouse is one of the most common MS models with immunization of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG₃₅₋₅₅) emulsified in Complete Freud's Adjuvant (CFA) together with injection of pertussis toxin (PTX). However EAE in other background murine strains immunized with different CNS antigens can develop acute/chronic progressive or relapsing-remitting course (44). Despite EAE being a valuable tool for developing a better understanding of the immune inflammatory processes in MS disease and providing an invaluable tool for drug development and treatment against MS, the differences between EAE and MS must be accredited (45, 46), and noted that the findings in EAE models may not necessarily be reflected in MS disease clinically. For example different dendritic cell (DC) subsets have been found in mouse and human. The lymphoid tissues in mouse contain particular DCs with a CD8a subset that distinguishes them from other DC subsets. These non-migrating resident $CD8^+$ DC cells can cross present exogenous cell-bound molecules and soluble antigens on MHC-I and once activated lead to excessive production of IL-12 and stimulate inflammatory responses. On the contrary, humans have similar DC subsets to mice but lack the CD8 expression. The exposure of DC cells to inflammatory cytokines can quickly activate other innate cells including NK/T cells, which may mediate the balance between Th1 and Th2 responses. This becomes crucial as various DCs have been identified in both mouse and human (47), where human DC1 cells and mouse $CD8^+$ DC subset can promote Th1 proliferation (48, 49), whilst human DC2 and mouse CD8⁻ DC subsets promote Th2 response (50-52). In addition to different DC subsets driving proliferation of T-helper cells in mouse and human, evidences suggest a difference between Th17 differentiation in mouse and man. Th17 is another T-cell subset capable of inducing severe autoimmunity and secrete pro-inflammatory interleukins such as IL-17 and IL-22 (53-55). The divergence began with defining the role of transforming growth factor (TGF)- β in differentiation of Th17 cells. The role of TGF- β is highly pleiotropic and contrary evidences have been reported regarding its role in mice and man. In mice, IL-6 and TGF- β are essential for the differentiation of Th17 cells, whereas in human studies, IL-1 β and IL-6 were shown to be essential for priming Th17 response and not TGF- β (56, 57). However despite many human studies showing the presence of TGF- β could suppress IL-17 production (56), more recent data revealed that TGF-β, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-21 and IL-23 could induce IL-17 production from naïve human CD4 T-cells (58). The controversy remains as TGF- β and IL-6 were shown in a different human study to be critical for Th17 differentiation (59), yet another study showed TGF- β was only capable of enhancing the expression of IL-17 in peripheral T-cells (60). These evidences emphasize on the importance of acknowledging the existed differences between mice models and man, thus observations from EAE studies will have limitations in their application to MS patients.

1.3 Immunopathogenesis of MS and EAE

The current understanding of the pathophysiological process in MS disease through studies in MS and EAE suggest that T-cells recognizing myelin proteins such as myelin basic protein (MBP), proteolipid protein (PLP) or MOG, become activated in the periphery and migrate to the CNS via blood brain barrier (BBB) and cause autoimmune inflammation leading to CNS tissue damage and clinical paralysis (61). The CNS has been regarded as an immune-privileged site that is protected against immune response by preventing the accessibility of immune cells and molecules to the site in three major ways; the presence of tight endothelial junctions of BBB, the absence of lymphatic vessels, and the lack of parenchymal DCs (62-64). These characteristics are able to maintain the absence of immune cells in CNS during normal conditions; however, the disruption in balance can trigger several CNS pathologies by allowing the T-cells to accumulate and develop inflammation. The ambiguity remains as to how CNS specific Tcells are initially activated in periphery and what mechanisms enable them to increase in number and trigger cascade of events that leads to accumulation of immune cells. The recent data attempt to understand the mediating T-cells in EAE and elucidate the distinct T-cell phenotypes and their effector mechanisms to broaden our knowledge of T-cell infiltrations and BBB disruption. Current understanding of the immunopathogenesis of MS/EAE is that: MS/EAE is mediated by myelin-specific T-cells that are activated in the periphery and transmigrate into the CNS through BBB (65, 66). After entering CNS, Tcells are then re-reactivated by local and infiltrating activated APCs that present MHC class-II associated peptides, resulting in subsequent inflammatory processes and eventually in demyelination and axonal damage.

For CNS inflammation to be initiated, myelin-specific T-cells are first required to activate in the periphery, gain access to the CNS and reactivate by APCs presenting self-antigens. The reactivation of T-cells causes the production of soluble mediators that could recruit other inflammatory cells to the site. However the recruitment of soluble mediators to the CNS becomes more challenging as the CNS has a unique anatomy and is protected from cellular infiltrations via the BBB that surrounds parenchymal venules and also the bloodcerebrospinal fluid (CSF) barrier that surrounds the choroid plexus and meningeal venules. The activated T-cells are however able to cross the tight junction between the endothelial of BBB and the epithelial cells of blood-CSF barrier by carrying out immune surveillance as they increase the expression of specific chemokines, integrins and adhesion molecule that allows them to pass through the tight junction (62). It is worth mentioning that the activated T-cells may not necessarily take the same route of entry to CNS. They can either cross the blood-CSF barrier and enter the region between arachnoid and pial membrane, known as subarachnoid space (SAS) where CSF circulates or cross the BBB and enter the perivascular region that separates basement membrane attached to the endothelial cells of the vessel from a second membrane known as glial limitans which comprises astrocyte feet and microglial cells (Figure 1). Moving on, many studies have focused on determining the T-cells preferential route of entry to CNS and the primary site of inflammation in CNS. The endothelial cells of the brain were discovered to express selectins and adhesion molecules that allow activated T-cells to adhere to the vessel wall in the presence of inflammation. This suggests that the immune surveillance of T-cells that cross blood-CSF barrier first occurs in SAS where adhesion molecules are expressed abundantly (67). Another study has also confirmed the presence of chemokine receptor

(CCR) CCR6 by a subset of pathogenic T-cells, which facilitates the entry of T-cells into the CNS in EAE. Interestingly the ligand for CCR6, CCL20, is expressed by the choroid plexus epithelial cells present in both man and mice, supporting the idea of T-cells crossing blood-CSF barrier first to induce EAE (68). Lassmann et al have also detected the SAS as the primary inflammation site in EAE, where the previously activated $CD4^+$ T-cells in the periphery are reactivated by MHC-II APCs (69). The reactivation of T-cells and recognition of cognate ligand leads to T-cell proliferation and formation of large Tcell aggregates in SAS (70). This process of reactivation itself, leads to activation of perivascular endothelial cells that allow the recruitment of T-cells into the perivascular space. Although the details of this process are poorly understood, one study suggested that the activation of T-cells in the SAS could trigger the activation of both microglial cells and axonal damage, leading to Wallerian degeneration of axons (71). This may lead to distal activation of microglial cells and up-regulation of adhesion molecules on parenchymal vasculature that are distant from initial T-cell site infiltration in SAS region (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Schematic drawing of possible routes of activated T-cell entry into CNS. Redrawn from "Autoimmune T-cell responses in autoimmunity", by J. Goverman, 2010, *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 9, p. 393-407. Reprinted with permission.

The activated T-cells can enter the CNS via different routes, (A) by entering the subarachnoid space (SAS) region through meningeal cell walls; (B) by entering the SAS region via blood vessels into stroma of choroid plexus and then crossing blood-CSF barrier surrounding the choroid plexus stroma. The BBB is made of endothelial cells that are connected by tight junctions making entry to CNS more difficult. T-cells crossing BBB enter perivascular space where T-cells are proliferated.



Figure 2. Schematic drawing of the myelin-specific CD4⁼ T-cell activation in periphery and CNS. Redrawn from "Autoimmune T-cell responses in autoimmunity", by J. Goverman, 2010, *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 9, p. 393-407. Reprinted with permission.

Autoantigens (soluble myelin antigens) are phagocytosed by APCs and presented to naïve CD4⁺ T-cells in lymphoid tissues. The activated CD4⁺ T-cells then enter SAS by crossing blood-CSF barrier in either choroid plexus or meningeal vessels via chemo-attraction (2). These T-cells are then re-activated in SAS by local or infiltrating APCs (3), resulting in microglial activation and distal activation of microglial cells (4). The activated T-cells adhere to the vessel walls with the aid of adhesion molecules and cross the BBB barrier to enter the perivascular space where they become reactivated by perivascular macrophages or DCs (5). The release of T-cells, macrophages/DCs and microglial cells into parenchyma triggers secretion of soluble mediators that causes demyelination. The protective myelin sheath is damaged as a result production of protease, glutamate, reactive oxygen species and other cytotoxic agents that promote myelin breakdown. Damage to the myelin sheath surrounding axons is followed by axonal damage and neurological impairment.

1.3.1 CD4⁺ T-cell function in CNS autoimmunity

Emerging data suggests a prime role for Th1 cells and possible contribution of Th17 cells to CNS autoimmunity through different mechanisms (13-15). For decades MS has been accepted as the CD4⁺ T-helper1 (Th1) mediated disease. Th1 cells play a crucial role in adaptive immune response by defending body against intracellular pathogens. However over response of Th1 cells can lead to excessive inflammation and consequently tissue damage. To avoid this, the immune regulatory mechanisms normally keep the Th1 responses in a delicate balance of effective host-protection without deleterious damage. Self-reactive Th1 cells were initially regarded as the major effector cells in MS pathology (72, 73). This hypothesis was based on the early results obtained from EAE models, where IFN- γ producing CD4⁺ T-cells were able to induce EAE with clinical symptoms and CNS inflammation in naïve mice after adoptive transfer (13). The main cytokine to drive the differentiation of IFN- γ secreting Th1 cells is IL-12 (74-76). The generation of Th1 cells begins from a naïve T-helper cell by TCR engagement and STAT1 signaling that are induced by activation of the IFN- γR and IFNs. Once STAT1 is phosphorylated, it then induces the expression of transcription factor T-bet which predominately drives the Th1 differentiation by trans-activating IFN- γ and subunit of IL-12R β 2. As a result the cells are becoming responsive to IL-12 that are produced by activated APCs and subsequent IL-12 signaling through STAT4 that further stabilises the Th1 phenotype (77). The presence of Th1 cytokines in the inflammatory lesion in the CNS during the peak stage of EAE and the loss of Th1 cytokines along the recovery marks the importance of Th1 in pathogenicity of EAE (78, 79). In support with previous findings, EAE mice lacking the Th1 transcription factor, T-bet/ and STAT4/ were shown to be highly

resistant to EAE (80-82) and when treated with IFN- γ , the disease was exacerbated in MS patients (83-85). However the Th1 pathogenic effector dichotomy was questioned when surprisingly the mice models deficient in IL-12 α (IL-12p35), IL-12R β 2, IFN- γ , and transcription factor STAT1 were all found to be highly susceptible to EAE, despite inability to produce IFN-y (86-90). The mice deficient in p35 chain of IL-12 were shown to be highly susceptible to EAE however on the contrary the p40 deficient and p19 deficient mice were highly resistant to EAE. The p19 deficient mice however showed normal generation of Th1 response, but failed to produce substantial numbers of IL-17 producing T-cells. These paradoxical evidences suggested the potential involvement of other T-helper subsets that may induce autoimmunity and has therefore shed light on the identification of Th17 lineage. The development of Th17 lineage is driven by two transcription factors, retinoid-related orphan receptors (ROR) γ t and ROR α (91, 92). The development of Th17 is antagonized by the expression of IFN- γ secreting-Th1 cells and IL-4 secreting Th2 cells and hence result in suppression of Th17 differentiation if present (93, 94). IL-23 is known as an essential component for later stage of Th17 differentiation into mature effector cells (95). Interestingly the IL-23 knockout mice were unable to generate Th17 cells and showed full susceptibility to EAE (95-97). The main drivers of Th17 differentiation are the cytokine TGF- β and IL-6 (98, 99). The differentiation of Th17 cells can be induced either with signaling of IL-6 to phosphorylate STAT3 or in absence of IL-6, IL-21 and TGF- β will endure this effect. Despite IL-6 being a stronger driver of Th17 response, IL-21 can act in an autocrine fashion to amplify Th17 differentiation (100-102). Moreover, Th17 cells can produce series of cytokines including IL-17A/F, IL-21, IL-22 and TNF- α that can promote inflammation and contribute to

pathogenicity of autoimmune disorders. Th17 and other leukocytes such as natural killer cell (NK), natural killer T-cells (NKT), CD117⁺ CD127⁺ leukocyte lymphoid tissue inducer (LTi) cells and mucosal NKp46⁺ cells can also release IL-17 cytokine. IL-17 is a key pathogenic molecule in many disease processes including EAE, showing that the IL-17 deficient model can develop attenuated EAE and that the neutralizing IL-17 antibodies can ameliorate EAE (53, 103, 104). However these findings were questioned when another study showed IL-17A^{-/-} and IL-17F^{-/-} mice models were still susceptible to EAE with mild disease severity after neutralizing IL-17 in vivo (105). Also despite 50% homology between IL-17A and IL-17F and similar pattern of expression, IL-17F showed no decrease in EAE incidence or strong differences in EAE severity when IL-17A was neutralized in IL-17F^{-/-} mice compared with wild-type, nor caused disease exacerbation when IL-17A was overexpressed in CD4⁺ T cells (106). Despite the debates many studies have moved on to clinically investigate the sole pathogenic role of Th17 in MS patients by looking at the expression of IL-17 in CNS lesions. As a result high levels of IL-17 in chronic MS lesions were detected compared to other acute lesions and naïve controls of patients without CNS pathology (107). A full induction of EAE by adoptive transfer of highly purified Th1 cells were observed where on the contrary Th17 cells lacking IFN- γ producing cells were unable to induce the disease, highlighting the importance of IFN- γ in both Th1 and Th17 cells. Other studies have focused on the importance of Th17 in disease incidence and contribution to pathology. Lees et al discovered lower incidence of EAE in IL-17^{-/-} upon transfer of Th1 cells compared to the wild type (108). Therefore it was suggested that Th1 cells are primarily responsible for crossing the tight BBB junction and accessing CNS leading to facilitated subsequent recruitment of Th17 cells. T-cells

responsible for production of both IL-17 and IFN-y that express T-bet and RORyt are recruited to CNS during EAE. Expression of T-bet have been described as the main encephalogenicity of T-cells rather than their cytokine expression, and inhibition of T-bet has been shown to ameliorate EAE by inhibiting both Th1 and Th17 cells (109). Interestingly the transferred Th17 cells can switch between production of IL-17 and IFN- γ , indicating the existent level of plasticity between these populations (110, 111). In an attempt to understand the cellular behavior of Th17 and Th1 cells in pathogenicity of EAE/MS, Korn *et al* demonstrated that after active immunization, Th17 cells frequency peaks earlier during induction of disease whereas IFN-y producing Th1 cells reach the highest levels at the peak of clinical disease where symptoms are worsened and disability ensues. This may suggest that Th17 could potentially be the first cells to infiltrate CNS and propagate tissue inflammation before Th1 cells (112). Jager et al have observed different nature of disease development and symptomology induction by Th1 and Th17. The Th17 cells seem to promote lesion formation localised in brainstem and cerebellum leading often to atypical signs of EAE, whereas Th1 cells induce lesions in SC causing classical signs of EAE (113). On the basis of the Th1 and Th17 studies, it is difficult to attribute a sole pathogenic role to either T-cell subsets. Given all the controversies over the functional differences between Th1 and Th17 cells and the lack of consensus on their relative pathogenicity in EAE, it becomes crucial to expand our understanding of CD4⁺ mediated T-cells in CNS autoimmunity.

1.3.2 T-regulatory cells in MS/EAE

While the effector T-cells are promoting and perpetuating inflammation in MS, the regulatory T-cells serve to sustain balance by controlling expansion and activation of autoreactive CD4⁺ T-cells as well as maintaining self-tolerance. The effector Th17 cells are hypothesized to have reciprocal relationship with the protective FOXP3⁺ T-regulatory cells (CD4⁺CD25⁺ T_{Regs}). If the encounter of high avidity MBP-specific T-cells with lymphoid endogenous MBP cells is suppressed, an anti-inflammatory response is acquired which is characterized by secretion of IL-10 and TGF- β (114). In myelin-specific CD4⁺ TCR transgenic mouse models, the transcription factor for T_{Regs} , forkhead box P3 (FOXP3)⁺ suppresses the activation of myelin-specific CD4⁺ T-cells within the periphery and thereby preventing the development of spontaneous EAE (115, 116). However in the presence of immunogenic stimuli and absent of T_{Regs} the reactions between MBP-specific T-cells and APCs will overcome active tolerance and autoimmunity will be endured. The generation of the pro-inflammatory Th17 cells requires the presence of TGF- β together with IL-6 to drive the process. However the presence of TGF- β alone induces FOXP3⁺, as the essential component for developing Tregs within the periphery. On the other hand the presence of IL-6 pro-inflammatory cytokine alone, inhibits the induction of FOXP3⁺ T_{Regs} and instead promotes the differentiation of Th-17 cells simultaneously (117). To further support the hypothesis of Th17 and T_{Regs} reciprocal relationship, Zhou and Du J et al have shown the transcription factors ROR $\gamma\tau$ /ROR α and FOXP3⁺ for Th17 and T_{Regs} to inhibit each other's functions (118, 119). Additionally cytokines such as IL-2 favors T_{Regs} production and inhibits Th-17 cell differentiation, whilst IL-21 promotes Th-17 differentiation and instead inhibits the T_{Regs} expansion (120). Despite the similar numbers

of T_{Regs} in peripheral blood and CSF in both MS and healthy patients, some studies have pointed to the defects in T_{Regs} capacity from MS patients to suppress myelin-specific Tcells in periphery (121, 122). This can imply that either there is a lack of T_{Regs} -mediated suppression in autoimmune responses towards CNS or the defects lie in migration of T_{Regs} to the CNS (112). Other studies have shown the impaired functions of $CD4^+$ T_{Regs} cells in MS patients as well as decreased ability or absence of CD4⁺ T_{Regs} cells to prevent activation of myelin-specific T-cells in the periphery (123), suggesting the lack of CD4⁺ T_{Regs} cells in CNS could be a result of defective migration or inability to survive in CNS microenvironment. Indeed the mechanism of T_{Regs} in active EAE has generally been proven to be protective and to reduce inflammation. Zhang et al report the application of anti-CD25 antibody, which reduces T_{Regs} production in vivo, increased the onset and severity of EAE with associated decrease of an important anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. Furthermore it was reported that transfer of T_{Regs} from naïve SJL mice decreases EAE severity but surprisingly has no effect on IL-10 deficient mice (124). This may indicate that T_{Regs} may play a role in down-regulation of effector T-cells via mechanisms that involves IL-10. IL-10 is considered to be a multi-functioning cytokine that initially was described to be a product of Th2 cells that can negatively regulate the activation and secretion of Th1 cell cytokines (125). IL-10 is now known to inhibit the Th1 response by reducing antigen presentation and cytokine production from APC (126). Furthermore IL-10 can also act directly on T-cells to reduce proliferation and cytokine production (127). Many studies have particularly focused on the effects of IL-10 in both MS and EAE and not surprisingly IL-10 was observed to elicit beneficial effects. Moreover MS patients have shown an increased level of IL-10 in their serum during disease remission (128)

indicating the potential protective role of IL-10 during remission. The two widely used treatments of MS, IFN- β and GA, both have also demonstrated efficacy in part by inducing IL-10 production from immune cells (129). More evidence also suggests the genetic study where IL-10^{-/-} model showed development of severe EAE where symptoms were exacerbated, while the over-expression protected mice against EAE (130). Although some studies have suggested correlation between the presence of FOXP3 and IL-10 cells in CNS with disease recovery (131), others have shown T_{Regs} to be ineffective in suppressing T-peripheral CD4⁺ T-cells whilst the levels of IL-6 and TNF are still elevated (112). Further research in understanding the exact function of IL-10 and T_{Regs} will help to develop new therapeutic strategies for patients.

1.4 IL-22 and its role in inflammation

IL-22 was first discovered in 2000 as an IL-9 induced gene and termed IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor (IL-TIF) (132, 133). IL-22 is induced by IL-9 in mouse T lymphoma cells and shows 22% amino acid similarity with IL-10 and 80.8% identity with human IL-22 (134, 135). IL-22 receptor (IL-22R) contains two subunits of IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 (136). The IL-22R1 is expressed by a variety of non-immune tissues (skins, lung and kidney) while IL-10R2 is expressed on immune cells (T, B and NK cells). Another form of IL-22R encoded by different gene is the soluble IL-22R, IL-22 binding protein (IL-22BP), which counteracts to IL-22 with affinity four times higher than those observed in IL-22R1 in vitro (137). In general, the biological role of IL-22 involves the increase of innate immunity and providing protection from damage as well as enhancing regeneration of damaged tissues (136, 138-145). However, IL-22 can also play a pathogenic role in some chronic inflammatory disease depending on the nature of effected tissue and local cytokine milieu (146-149). These paradoxical effects of IL-22 are dependent on the context of IL-22 production as IL-22 can synergistically act with other inflammatory cytokines, including IL-17 and TNF- α (54). Therefore a tight regulation of IL-22 is critical in maintaining he beneficial effects of IL-22 and avoiding deleterious inflammatory effects. Recent studies have shown the activated T and NK cells to express IL-22 upon immune cell isolation whereas other immune cells such as B-cells, monocytes and DCs were unable to produce IL-22 (133, 150). Among all these immune cells, IL-22 expression was mainly restricted to CD4⁺ memory cells but human Th1 cells were shown to be important IL-22 regulators (151). In the murine system Th17 cells are thought to be the main IL-22 producers whereas in humans Th22 and Th1 cells are likely to play a more important role for IL-22 production (59, 152). The IL-10 family members mainly signal via activation of the Jak/STAT pathway (153). The signaling of IL-22 begins with IL-22 binding to IL-22R causing the activation of JAK1 and Tyk2 kinases; primarily leading to STAT3 and to a lesser extends STAT1 and STAT5 phosphorylation (136). STAT3 has recently been discovered to be constitutively linked to the C-terminus of the IL-22 that leads to mediating the expression of variety of genes involved in cellular processes such as cell growth and apoptosis (154). As IL-22 signaling pathway affects multiple molecular processes in autoimmune diseases, therefore manipulating these pathways may have potentials to treat autoimmune disorders (155-159). Interestingly IL-22 also exhibits similar pattern of expression as IL-17, a key molecule in MS and EAE development (160). A recent genomic study by Beyeen et al, in an attempt to identify EAE-regulating quantitative trait locus that harbors the EAE risk genes, has demonstrated the presence of *Eae29* on rat chromosome 1. The *Eae29* allele from the resistant strain both conferred milder EAE and lower production of pro-inflammatory molecules in macrophages as demonstrated by the congenic line, (DA, susceptible to EAE and PVG, resistant to EAE) DA.PVG-Eae29 (Dc1P). Interestingly soluble IL-22R a2 gene was discovered within the Eae29 locus and its expression was reduced in Dc1P, both in activated macrophages and splenocytes from immunized rats (40) supporting the potential pathogenic role of IL-22 in EAE/MS development. Indeed, there are a few recent reports suggest an emerging role of IL-22 in MS disease (161). Durelli *et al* reported that the IL-22-producing CD4⁺ T-cells were dramatically increased in the serum samples of MS patients together with Th17 cells but not Th1 cells. Furthermore, they observed two distinct CD4 subsets producing either IL-17/IL-22 or only IL-22 in the peripheral blood samples of acute MS patients (161).

Almolda and colleagues have also investigated the potential role of IL-22 and other cytokines in MS disease using EAE model (162). Their results revealed a specific cytokine expression profile along the EAE course characterized by no changes of IL-10 and IL-17 levels throughout the disease course, but a decrease of IL-21 on the peak, and an increase of IL-22 levels in SC tissues during the induction and peak phases that was markedly decreased during recovery. An elevated increase in CD3⁺ and CD4⁺ cells was reported during clinical symptomatology of the disease, showing a Th1 phenotype. Unexpectedly during the recovery phase, although the clinical signs progressively decreased, the number and proportion of CD3⁺ and CD4⁺ populations remained unaltered. More interestingly there was a marked decrease in Th1 and an important increase in Th17 and T_{Regs} cells, which was also coupled with dramatic decrease of IL-22 during the recovery phase of acute EAE in rats (162). This could illustrate a potential pathogenic role for IL-22 in induction and pathogenicity of the disease. In contrast to these findings Kreymborg *et al* have exclusively looked at the impact of IL-22 in pathogenicity of EAE and found IL-22^{-/-} deficient mice were fully susceptible to EAE development (163). As controversies remain, to determine the exact role of IL-22 in EAE development, I studied the expression of IL-22 in CNS and peripheral immune tissues during the induction, peak and recovery stages of EAE and examined the correlation of the expression level with clinical severity of EAE.

1.5 Research aims

Current data suggest that IL-22 may have an important role in MS/EAE development, but the exact function of this molecule is less clear. This project aims to understand the mechanisms of IL-22 function in MS/EAE by studying the expression levels of IL-22 in immune and CNS systems and examining the correlation of the expression levels with disease severity. The data obtained from this study will indicate the potential role of IL-22 in the peripheral immune system and in the CNS system during the development of CNS inflammation, thus provide better insights of the immunopathogenesis of MS/EAE.
Chapter 2: Material and methods

2.1 Buffers and solutions

Avidin/Biotin: TBS containing 5%HOS/2%MOS and PBS plus 4 drops of Avidin per ml, pH 7.4

Blocking buffer reagent (BB): 10% Normal, 2.5% Normal Mouse Serum, 1% BSA, pH 7.2

BB + Avidin: BB, 4 drops of Avidin/ml, pH 4.5

BB + Biotin: BB + 4 drops of Biotin/ml, pH 3.5

Cresyl Echt Violet: Cresyl Echt Violet Acetate 0.5 gm. Distilled water 100 ml, pH 3.5

Formalin: 25% ethanol + 75% acetone, pH 6.8

PBST: PBS + 0.05% Tween 20, pH 7.4

Complete RPMI: RPMI medium +L-glu+ 10% FCS+ S/P (Streptomycin 10000 µg/ml, Penicillin10000 U/ml), pH 7.2

TBS: 116.8 g NaCl, 40ml 2M Tris, 4 ml of Tween® 20, 4 L with H2O, pH 7.6

TBST: TBS + 0.05% Tween® 20, pH 7.5

2.2 EAE induction and clinical evaluation

C57BL/6 female mice were purchased from Harlan (UK) and maintained in the Biological Procedure Unit at University of Strathclyde under UK Home Office guidelines. Female mice at the age of 7-8 weeks were used in all experiments. For EAE induction, mice were immunized subcutaneously at the back region with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide (100 µg/50µl of (Sigma Genosys, USA) emulsified with an equal volume of CFA (5 mg/ml of Mycobacterium tuberculosis, strain H37RA, Difco, Detroit MI)) on day 0. Each mouse also received 100 ng/100µl of PTX (Sigma, USA) in PBS intraperitoneally on day 0 and 2. Mice immunized with an equal volume of PBS in CFA together with PTX were used as controls. Following the immunization the mice were monitored closely of their body weight and clinical signs of EAE disease. Mice were weighed on day 0 and from day 7 to day 28 post-immunization on daily basis. Percentage of body weight change was calculated as (the weight of the day-the weight of day 0)/the weight on day 0 x 100%. EAE severity was scored according to a 0-5 scale as follows: 0, no clinical sign; 1, complete loss of tail tone; 2, hind limb weakness; 3, hind limb paralysis; 4, forelimb involvement; 5, moribund.

2.3 Tissue harvesting and cryosectioning

Naïve mice and mice from MOG-CFA or PBS-CFA immunized groups were sacrificed on day 9, day 17 and day 28 post immunization for histology and immune response examination. Mice were sacrificed by asphyxiation in CO₂, then blood, spleen, inguinal LNs, and SC tissues were harvested. The blood from each mouse was harvested using 1ml syringe from the open chest cavity and transferred to eppendorf tubes. Samples were left at room temperature (RT) for 4 hour and then centrifuged at 200 g for 5 minutes, serum samples were collected and stored at -20°C until used. Once the blood was collected, mice were perfused with 20 ml of cold PBS buffer, spleen and LNs were then harvested and suspended in PBS with 2% FCS and Penicillin (100 units/ml)/Streptomycin (100 µg/ml) for tissue culturing and stimulation assay.

Mouse SC was then flushed out with PBS by hydrostatic pressure using a syringe attached to an 18-gauge needle. In brief, the spinal column just below the skull and at the hill level was cut and removed. The 2 ml syringe filled with PBS was inserted to the lumbar region of the spinal column and the plunger pushed forcefully to inject PBS into the column to allow the SC to slip out. SCs were collected and snap frozen on dry ice in mounting medium O.C.T (VWR International BVBA) for cryotomy or individually suspended in RNA*later*[®] (Life technologies) for PCR.

SC molds embedded in OCT were put onto metal grids that fit into the cryostat. The sections were cut 7 μ m thick at -20°C and placed on poly-1-lysine coated slides (SuperFrost[®] Plus, VWR Int.) for staining purposes. The slides were then air dried at RT for 3-4 hours before storing at -20°C.

2.4 Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining

The slides were taken out from the -20°C freezer and left to defrost at RT for 40 minutes, followed by fixation in formalin solution for 10 minutes. Slides were then left for 20 minutes at RT before rehydrating in TBS buffer for 10 minutes. The slides were then placed in haematoxylin for 7 minutes, followed by washing under running tap water until water runs clear. Slides were then placed in 1% Acid/Alcohol for 12 dips followed by 2-3 minutes wash under running water. After washing, the slides were placed in Scott's Tap Water Substitute (STEWS) for 2 minutes and were checked under microscope for staining morphology before washing under tap water again. Slides were then put in Eosin for 30 seconds. Eosin is a strong dye and it requires longer washing step but this can be checked regularly under the microscope until a suitable pink colour is obtained. Slides were then put in 70% Ethanol for 10 dips followed by 20 dips in absolute alcohol and 3 minutes in Xylene, followed by mounting in DPX medium (Sigma-Aldrich[®]).

2.5 Luxol Fast Blue staining

Frozen sections were taken out from -20°C freezer and left to defrost at RT for 40 minutes. Sections were then fixed in formalin for 10 minutes. The slides were then placed in Luxol[®] Fast blue solution (Sigma-Aldrich[®]) containing 10% acetic acid and were left overnight (ON) at 58°C oven. The staining cylinder was tightly capped to prevent the alcoholic solution evaporating easily. After the ON incubation, the sections were then rinsed in 95% alcohol to remove excess stain followed by rinsing in distilled water for 1-2 minutes. The differentiation step is the most crucial and sensitive step of the staining and it begins by immersing the slides in 0.05% lithium carbonate solution for 10-20 seconds. The differentiation step was then continued in 70% alcohol solution until the grey and white matter could be distinguished. The slides were microscopically checked to observe a clear grey matter and sharply defined white matter. The differentiation step can be repeated a couple of times if necessary. Once the differentiation step is completed, the slides were rinsed in distilled water thoroughly and were placed in pre-heated Cresyl-Echt-Violet solution for 6 minutes at 60°C. The slides were then differentiated in several changes of 95% alcohol and further dehydrated in absolute alcohol and cleared in Xylene. The slides were then mounted with DPX mounting medium.

2.6 Antigen specific immune responses of immune cells

LNs and spleens were collected from naïve, MOG-CFA and PBS-CFA immunized mice and pooled within each group. Tissues were placed on Nitrex nylon mesh and mashed gently using syringe plunger. The single cells from LNs and spleens were collected and washed with sterile PBS and centrifuged at 200 g for 5 and 7 minutes respectively. This step was repeated several times. The spleen pellets were then lysed in 5 ml of red blood cell (RBC) lysis buffer (BD Pharmingen) to lyse the RBCs for 5 minutes and re-filtered through Nitrex nylon again. LNs do not require the lysis buffer and therefore pellets are directly suspended in complete RPMI media (Invitrogen) and cell number were counted using Trypan blue with haemocytometer. $4x10^6$ cells in 2ml were then cultured with or without MOG peptide (50 µg/ml) in 24 well plates (Test plates, Zellkultur, Switzerland) as shown in Figure 3. After incubation of cells for 72 hours, cell supernatants were harvested and then centrifuged for 5 minutes before transferring the supernatant to new eppendorf tubes and storing at -20°C for ELISA test.



Figure.3 Antigen specific stimulation of immune cells in culture

The MOG-CFA, PBS-CFA and naïve spleen cells were harvested and pooled within each group, single cell suspensions were then counted and $4x10^6$ cells in 2ml complete RPMI medium were cultured with or without MOG₃₅₋₅₅ (50 µg/ml) for 72 hours.

2.7 ELISA

To analyse the secretion of cytokines IL-17A, IL-22 and IFN- γ (reagents details see Table 1, all from eBioscience, UK) by the LN and spleen cells, ELISA was performed. The appropriate capture antibody (purified antibody) was diluted in the coating buffer (eBioscience, UK) according to the manufacturer's instruction and 100 µl was added to each well of the high-binding 96 ELISA well plates (Microlon, Greinerbio-one) and left ON at 4°C. The plates were then washed using a washing buffer PBST five times before treating with 50 µl/well of Assay Diluent (Phosphate buffered solution containing fetal bovine serum) to prevent non-specific binding of ELISA plates for 30 minutes at 37°C. After five washes, 100 µl/well of cell supernatant samples or double diluted standards were added into appropriate wells and sealed for further 2 hours of incubation at RT. Plates were then washed for five more times before adding 100 µl/well of prepared detection antibody (Biotin-conjugated antibody) and left for an hour incubation at RT. Following that, plates were washed thoroughly again and added 100 µl/well of Avidin-HRP (eBioscience) for 30 minutes. After further washing, plates were added with 100 µl/well of tetramethylbenzidine peroxidise substrate TMB (BD OptEIA^{TM,} BD Bioscience) and incubation for 15 minutes at RT and stopped by adding 50 µl of stop solution (Sulphuric Acid, 1 M H_2SO_4) to each well. The plates were then read at 450 nm within 30 minutes of adding the stop solution, using an Epoch (BioTek, Highland park, U.S.A) automatic microplate reader and Gen5TM software.

Cytokine	Capture Ab	Standard	Detection Ab
IL-22	Purified α-mouse	Recombinant	Biotin conjugate
	IL-22	mouse IL-22	α-mouse IL-22
IL-17A	Purified α-mouse	Recombinant	Biotin conjugate
	IL-17A	mouse IL-17A	α-mouse IL-17A
IFN-γ	Purified α-mouse	Recombinant	Biotin-conjugate
	IFN-γ	mouse IFN-γ	α-mouse IFN-γ

Table 1. ELISA reagents from eBioscience

2.8 RNA extraction and reverse transcription (RT-PCR)

The SC samples suspended in RNA*later*[®] were taken out from 4°C fridge and were added with 1.5 ml of Trizol[®] (InvitrogenTM Carlsbad CA, USA). The samples were then homogenized using homogenizer T25 basic (IKA LABORTECHNIK). To each ml of Trizol, 0.5 ml Chloroform (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) was added in each eppendorf tube vigorously mixed by hand and kept at RT for 2 minutes. Samples were then centrifuged at 10,000 g for 15 minutes at 4°C and the top aqueous layer was transferred to a new microcentrifuge tube with 0.6 ml ice cold Isopropanol. Further centrifuging was required at 10000 g for 10 minutes at 4°C where the pellet was formed and washed in 1mL 70% Ethanol, before centrifuging it again at 7000 g for 15 minutes at 4°C. At the final step, ethanol was carefully removed and pellet air dried before adding 50 µl RNase free water to each sample and heat tube at 65°C for 10 minutes to solubilise RNA. The RNA was then quantified using Nano-drop 2000 c spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific).

After quantification of RNA sample by Nano-drop, $2\mu g$ of total RNA per $20\mu l$ reaction is taken and thawed on ice. Then the aliquot RT reaction mix (Table 2) is loaded into plate and sealed for brief centrifugation. The thermal cycle began with plate incubation at $25^{\circ}C$ for 10 minutes, $37^{\circ}C$ for 120 minutes, $85^{\circ}C$ for 5 minutes and paused at $4^{\circ}C$ when the cycle is completed. Once the cycle stops, the cDNA is ready for long-term storage in freezer (- $20^{\circ}C$).

Table 2. RT-PCR reaction mix

Component	Component Volume/ Reaction (µl) (Without RNase Inhibitor)
10x RT Buffer	2.0
25x dNTP Mix (100mM)	0.8
10x RT Random Primers	2.0
MultiScribe TM Reverse Transcriptase	1.0
Nuclease-free H ₂ O	4.2
Total per reaction	10.0

2.9 Real-time PCR

Once tissue cDNA is ready, it can be used in real-time PCR application. Fast SYBR[®] Green real-time PCR was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions (AB Applied Biosystems) using the primers described below. Each reaction volume contained 20 µl, which was loaded on MicroAmpTM Fast Optical 96-well reaction plate. Each sample contained 10 µl of Fast SYBR[®] Green Master Mix, forward and reverse primers[†] (Table 3, minimum of 200 nM of each primer), RNase-free water and 1 µl of cDNA template which should give a total volume of 20 µl. The plate is then placed in Applied Biosystems real-time quantitative PCR instrument (StepOne Plus) and appropriate programming for thermal cycling conditions is then applied. The first step begins with AmpliTaq[®] Fast DNA Polymerase, UP Activation for 20 seconds at 95°C, denaturing step for 3 seconds at 95°C for 40 cycles, following anneal/extension step for 30 seconds at 60°C for further 40 cycles. Once the cycles are complete, the plate is ready for data analysis. The used primers with both forward and reverse sequences are tabulated below.

Gene	Company	Forward primer 5' 3'
IL-22	Invitrogen TM	TTGAGGTGTCCAACTTCCAGCA
IL-22R	Invitrogen TM	CTGCCAACCTGACTATGGAGA
IL-17A	Sigma®	CTCAACCGTTCCACGTCAC

2.10 Immunohistochemical colour staining

The slides were fixed in formalin solution for 10 minutes before being air-dried. Tissues on the slides were then circled with wax pen and left at RT for 20 minutes to air-dry again. The slides were then rehydrated in staining cylinder with TBST for 25 minutes while placed on the shaker. 100 µl of blocking buffer (BB)+Avidin was then added to each tissue and incubated for 30 minutes. This step helps to reduce non-specific binding in the tissues. Following the blocking step, a fluorescence-conjugated antibody can be added to react directly with the antigen in tissue sections. However this method is insensitive due to low signal amplification. In comparison, indirect staining method has proven to be more sensitive due to signal amplification through biotinylated antibody and the following enzyme horseradish peroxidase (HRP). We used purified primary antibody, which reacts with the tissue antigen followed by a biotinylated antibody, which specifically bound to the primary antibody. Thus tissues were incubated with blocking buffer first, which is followed by 100 μ l of pre-diluted primary antibody (Rat α -mouse IL-22, or other antibodies, details see Table 2) for either 1 hour at RT or incubation ON at 4° C in dark stain tray with wet paper towels to allow humidity. Following the incubation ON, the slides were taken out and left at RT for 30 minutes before washing in TBST for further 30 minutes. Appropriate biotinylated antibody in BB was applied to the tissues for 30 minutes at RT. Sections were then thoroughly washed in TBST before being incubated with HRP diluted in BB for 30 minutes. After further washing, substrate DAB/AEC (Vector Laboratories, Inc. Burlingame, CA.) (1 µl in 100 µl) was added to the samples for about 10 minutes. Slides were then washed in TBST and water before being counterstained with haematoxylin, and mounted in hydromount solution. Matched isotypes (Table 5) were used as controls for the immunohistochemical staining.

2.11 Double fluorescence immunohistochemical staining

The slides were fixed and treated as before. Upon incubation with first primary antibody the slides were treated with 100 μ l of pre-diluted primary antibody (Rat α -mouse IL-22) in BB + biotin (4 drops per 1 ml) for 1 hour at RT placed in dark tray with cooled paper towels to allow humidity and prevent the tissue drying quickly. Rehydration step was then applied using TBS+0.05% Tween[®] 20, for 30 minutes as before. Appropriate biotinylated antibody in BB were then applied to the tissues for 30 minutes and washed as before. For indirect immunofluorescence method the tissues require to be incubated with Strepavidin or species specific secondary antibodies conjugated with FITC or TRITC in BB for 45 minutes to allow colour development. The slides were then washed in TBST before drying and mounting with Vectashield containing DAPI (Vector Laboratories, Inc. Burlingame, CA.).

Primary Antibody	Company	Species	Catalogue No
IL-22	R & D system	Rat α mouse	IC582P
GFAP	DAKO	Rabbit α mouse	Z0334
NeuN	Millipore	Mouse α mouse	MAB377
Iba1	Abcam	Goat a mouse	ab5076
SMI-31	Abcam	Mouse α mouse	ab24570

Table 4. Primary antibodies used in immunohistochemical staining

Table 5. Isotype antibodies used in	immunohistochemical staining
-------------------------------------	------------------------------

Isotype control Antibody	Company	Catalogue No
Rat IgG	Vector	I-4000
Mouse IgG	Vector	AI-9200
Rabbit IgG	Vector	I-1000
Goat IgG	Invitrogen	026202

Table 6.	Secondary	antibodies us	sed in	immunohis	stochemical	staining

Biotinlyated Antibody	Company	Species	Catalogue No
α Rabbit Biotin	BD Pharmingen TM	Goat α rabbit	555616
α Rat Biotin	eBioscience	Mouse α rat	13-7341-85
α Goat biotin	Vector	Rabbit α goat	BA-5000
Fluorescent Antibody			
Strep FITC	Vector	-	SA-5001
Strep Texas Red	Vector	-	SA-5006
TRITC	Invitrogen	Mouse α mouse	A11036
TRITC	Invitrogen	Goat α mouse	A21124
TRITC	Invitrogen	Rabbit α goat	A10532

2.12 Statistical analysis

All the data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M in all experiments or as readings from individual mouse as appropriate. The cytokine production by immune cells were tested using ELISA and the experiments were repeated three times fully and each time in duplicate unless stated otherwise. All statistics along the study were performed using the Graph Pad Prism® software. Unpaired T-tests were also performed for calculating the significant difference of the cytokine levels in the splenocyte culture supernatants between EAE immunize mice and control group. T-test was also used to analyze the difference of EAE severity and percentage of body weight change between the two groups.

Chapter 3: Results

Introduction

During the development of MS/EAE, various immune molecules such as IL-22 are released by tissues and immune cells through different pathways and contribute to the disease pathology or recovery. A few recent papers reported that increased percentage of IL-22⁺ CD4 T cells in the peripheral blood of MS patients, suggesting an emerging role of IL-22 in MS development (161, 164, 165). Almolda *et al* have reported increased $CD3^+$ and CD4⁺ cells particularly Th1 cells in SC tissues of Lewis rat models during the induction and peak phases of EAE, however during the recovery phase despite the reduced clinical scores, the proportion of CD3⁺ and CD4⁺ remained unchanged (162). They further observed reduced levels of Th1 cells paralleled with increased Th17 and T_{Reg} cells during the recovery phase. Furthermore, they also observed while there was no change of IL-17 and IL-10 levels in SC during the course of EAE, a high up-regulation of IL-22 during the induction and peak onset, followed by marked decrease during recovery. Interestingly, despite the elevated expression of IL-22 during induction and peak in CNS tissues, Kreymborg et al have reported the IL-22 deficient mice were fully susceptible to EAE development (163). To understand the role of IL-22 in EAE development, we studied the expression of IL-22 in CNS and peripheral immune tissues during the induction, peak and recovery stages of EAE and examined the correlation of the expression level with clinical severity of EAE. ELISA assay was used to test the levels of IL-22; IL-17A and IFN- γ in the spleen cell supernatant and serum. Following on the ELISA experiment, the mRNA expression levels of these cytokines in CNS were examined by real-time PCR. Furthermore, we investigated the expression and cellular localization of IL-22 in control and EAE CNS tissues using colour and double immunofluorescence staining.

3.1 EAE development

As described in the Chapter 2, C57BL/6 mice were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide emulsified with an equal volume of CFA to induce EAE. Furthermore each mouse received PTX in PBS intraperitoneally on day 0 and 2. The control group received PBS in CFA instead of MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide together with PTX. Each mouse was monitored on daily basis to record any weight loss and the development of clinical symptoms (166-168). The percentage body weight change of MOG-CFA and PBS-CFA immunized mice is presented in Figure 4. Both group mice gained some weight from day 0 to day 9 before any clinical symptoms were observed. However this was followed by a rapid decrease in the percentage body weight of the MOG₃₅₋₅₅ immunized mice starting around day 10 while the control PBS-CFA immunized group mice continued to gain weight. There is a significant difference in the percentage of the body weight change between the two groups from day 11, throughout the EAE course even after the EAE mice started to regain weight around day 17.



Figure 4. Percentage body weight change of MOG and PBS immunized mice

C57/BL/6 mice were immunized s.c at day 0 with 100 μ g/50 μ l of MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide emulsified in CFA together with 100 ng/100 μ l of PTX i.p on day of immunization and 2 days later. Control animals were immunized with PBS-CFA and PTX. Individual mice were monitored for their body weight change daily. Both group mice showed increase in weight from day 0 to 9, followed by rapid decrease of body weight for MOG immunized mice starting at day 10. The weight change continued to fluctuate throughout the EAE course even after the EAE mice started to gain weight around day 17. Data show the mean ± SEM, n= 20 (days 0-9), n=14 (days 10-17) and n=7 (days 18-28) in EAE group and n=15 (days 0-9), 9 (days 10-17) and 7 (days 18-28) in PBS groups. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01.

The clinical scores of each individual mouse were also recorded according to a 0-5 scale as described in Materials and Methods. Some photos were taken to show the score system (Figure 5). The clinical signs began mainly from day 12 starting with tail paralysis, and became more severe each day until day 17 where the disease peaked. The MOG-CFA groups presented clinical signs varying from tail paralysis to hind limb paralysis and one with forelimb paralysis. Each individual mouse developed EAE at different rate and one failed to show any clinical signs at all, however the majority of mice developed EAE with evident clinical phenotype. The recovery period for each mouse also differed as some showed complete disease reversibility while others showed slow but steady improvements after the peak on-set.



Figure 5. EAE clinical evaluation system

C57BL/6 female immunized mice were evaluated with the standard EAE score system over the 28 days. The naïve/PBS-CFA groups of mice showed no signs of EAE (A). The MOG immunized mice developed tail signs of paralysis with a score of 1 at day 10 (B). The symptoms increased in severity gradually resulting in hind limb weakness with a score of 2 at day 14 (C), followed by hind limb paralysis with a score of 3 at around day 18 (D). The EAE clinical scores of both immunized mice were recorded and the daily average EAE scores are presented in Figure 6. The MOG-CFA group mice had severe EAE and the symptoms begin with tail paralysis at day 10, then developed to hind limb weakness and full paralysis at day 17. The PBS-CFA group did not show any clinical signs of EAE and continue to behave normally.



Figure 6. Clinical score of MOG₃₅₋₅₅ and PBS immunized mice

C57/BL/6 mice were immunized s.c with 100 µg/50 µl of MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide emulsified in CFA together with 100 ng/100 µl of PTX i.p. Control animals were immunized with PBS-CFA and PTX. The MOG-immunized mice showed EAE clinical symptoms starting at day 10 with tail paralysis and continuing in severity until reached peak at day 17 where severe disability ensued. Following on, the clinical symptoms began to improve from day 18 resulting in mice recovery. PBS-immunized mice showed no signs of EAE. The clinical scores of individual mice were monitored daily using the clinical scoring shown in Figure 5. Data show the mean \pm SEM, animal numbers were the same as in Figure 5. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.005.

3.2 Histology of SC tissues in naïve and EAE mice

To confirm the clinical observation, I carried out H&E staining to examine the histopathology of the SC tissues of MOG-CFA, PBS-CFA and compared with that of the naïve mice. The MOG-CFA tissues were from mice with no clinical symptoms for day 9, score 3 for day 17 and score 1.5 for day 28. The H&E staining presents visible look of the cell nucleus and their state of activity. The cell nucleus was stained in both the white and grey matter of naïve and PBS-CFA samples with no abnormal morphology (data not shown). However abnormal morphology with increased infiltrating cells was observed particularly in the white matter region of the SC starting at day 9 and became more obvious during peak of the disease sited. The MOG-CFA immunized EAE SC at day 28 the recovery phase of the disease showed reduced levels of inflammation (Figure 7). These changes in the SC morphology, suggests the change of the expression levels of many inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and cytolytic enzymes in periphery and CNS systems, which enabled the access of immune cells and molecules to the CNS through the disruption of BBB. To identify these cytokines responsible, we examined the expression of some specific immune cytokines particularly IL-22 in serum, spleen and in CNS using cell culture, ELISA, PCR and immunohistochemical staining methods.



Figure 7. H&E staining of SC tissues of naïve, MOG-CFA and PBS-CFA immunized mice

The SC tissues were harvested at day 9, 17 and 28 during the disease course. Frozen sections were stained with H&E staining to evaluate the inflammation in the SC tissues. The MOG-immunized mice showed abnormal morphology with increased infiltrating cells in the white matter at day 9 where this site activity became more enhanced during peak phase at day 17. The MOG-immunized mice showed reduced levels of inflammation at day 28 during recovery phase of the EAE. The control groups of PBS-CFA and naïve mice both showed no abnormal morphology. Haematoxylin stains the nuclei blue/purple, and Eosin-Y stains other eosinophilic structures in various shades of red, pink and orange. The images are representative of mice SC tissues in each group.

3.3 Cytokines expression in serum and spleen cell supernatant

To understand how systemic immune responses correlate with the development of EAE, I also harvested the spleens from MOG-CFA and PBS-CFA mice at day 9, 17 and 28 postimmunization and pooled within each group. Spleen cells from naïve mice were also collected as controls. After lysing the RBCs, single cell suspension was then counted with haemocytometer and cultured in 24 well plates with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ or medium. After 72 hours incubation, cell supernatants were collected for cytokine measurement using ELISA. In addition to spleen cells, inguinal LNs were also harvested and processed for measuring different cytokine expression. However, the cell numbers for LNs were very low, and I was unable to detect any cytokine secretion, therefore the LNs data are not presented. The cytokine levels of IL-22, IL-17A and IFN- γ produced by spleen cells collected from mice at day 9, 17 and 28 post immunization is presented in Figure 8. In both the naïve and PBS-CFA immunized mice groups, very low levels of cytokines were observed in the supernatant treated with medium alone or with MOG. Only in the supernatants collected from MOG-CFA group mice spleen cells, high levels of IL-17, IL-22 and IFN-γ were detected in the supernatant of the spleen cells from day 9 and 17 mice and stimulated with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide in the culture but not with medium alone. The data suggested an antigen specific production of these cytokines at the initiation and peak of the disease. At day 28 after immunization, the spleen cells were not able to produce any of the three cytokines with or without MOG in the culture. The similar production pattern of IL-22 with IFN- γ and IL-17A by the spleen immune cells may suggest that IL-22 is perhaps also involved in pathogenicity of EAE similar to IL-17A and IFN- γ , the key pathogenic molecules in MS/EAE development. We further measured the expression levels of IL-22, IL-17A and IFN- γ systemically in the serum samples collected from PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA groups. We were unable to detect any of these cytokines.



Figure 8. Cytokine production of spleen cells in EAE and control mice

The spleens from naïve, or MOG-CFA and PBS-CFA immunized mice were collected at day 9, 17 and 28 post-immunization and then pooled within each group. The cells were then counted and stimulated with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ (Black pattern) or with medium (Grey filled) for 72 hours. The supernatants were collected to examine cytokine production of IL-22, IL-17A and IFN- γ . MOG-immunized samples of spleen cells showed high levels of IL-17A, IL-22 and IFN- γ at day 9 and 17, stimulated with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ but not with medium. At day 28 the spleen cells were unable to produce any specific cytokines with or without MOG in the culture. Very low levels of cytokines were observed in PBS-CFA and naïve control groups treated with MOG or medium. Data show the mean ± SEM of duplicate culture samples of same animal, representative of 3 separate repeats of ELISA experiments. Each group's MOG and media were compared with each other and with the MOG and media of the two other groups. (E.g. naïve MOG compared with naïve media, PBS-CFA MOG and MOG-CFA MOG) and (naïve media compared with PBS-CFA media and MOG-CFA media). This was carried out for PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA groups also. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.005.

3.4 mRNA expression of IL-22, IL-22R and IL-17A in SC of naïve and EAE mice

During the induction and peak stages of EAE, spleen cells produced high levels of antigen specific IL-22 and IL-17. To investigate whether IL-22 is also produced by the CNS cells during EAE development, I examined the expression of IL-22, IL-22R and IL-17A in CNS using real time PCR as described before, SCs were harvested from naïve, or PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA immunized groups at day 9, 17 and 28 post-immunization. Using the Trizol method, RNA was extracted and then quantified via Nano-drop before cDNA was synthesized using RT-PCR. We then examined the mRNA expression using real-time PCR with Fast SYBR[®] Green according to the manufacturer's instructions. The PCR results were analyzed using $2^{-\Delta\Delta C}$ method and data are shown in Figure 9. The S.E.M were calculated using the final $2^{-\Delta\Delta C}$ values, however for statistics it is more accurate to use average ${}^{\Delta C}_{T}$ values, therefore the average ${}^{\Delta C}_{T}$ values were used to calculate T-test between each groups. Similar to spleen cell data, very low levels of IL-22 mRNA was detected in naïve and PBS-CFA CNS samples throughout the course of EAE (Figure 9). Interestingly, the PCR results showed that mRNA expression of IL-22 in CNS was also very low during disease onset and peak of EAE with small increase in expression during the disease recovery in MOG-CFA samples. In contrast to IL-22 expression, IL-22R was up regulated in MOG-CFA CNS samples throughout the disease course, with lower levels of expression during day 9 and 17 followed by marked increase at day 28 (Figure 9 (ii)). The data may support the previous findings of IL-22R presence in BBB endothelial cells with a potential pathology for IL-22 cytokine in MS/EAE. Interestingly IL-17A also showed very little expression at day 9 and 17 followed by an elevated

increase in MOG-CFA during the recovery phase at day 28 (Figure 9 (iii)). In contrast to previous findings where IL-17A was shown present in BBB during pathology, my data showed an up regulated expression of IL-17A mRNA during the recovery phase of the disease. It would be important to verify our findings with further PCR experimentations, but I was unable to repeat these experiments due the time limitation of my study.



Figure.9 mRNA level of IL-22, IL-22R and IL-17A in CNS of EAE mice

The cDNA was synthesized from naïve, PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA CNS samples at day 9, 17 and 28 during EAE. n=4 in naïve group, n=8 in PBS-CFA group and n=8 in MOG-CFA group. Duplicate samples from each CNS samples were tested for each sample from each time point. The observed mRNA expression levels of IL-22 appeared to be very low at day 9 and 17 with small increase at day 28. In contrast IL-22R and IL-17A levels were only up regulated at day 28 with low levels observed at day 9 and 17 during EAE. Error bars are representative of duplicate samples representing as S.E.M using $2^{-\Delta\Delta C}_{T}$ values. The unpaired T-tests were run between each group using ΔC_{T} values. Each three groups (naïve, PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA) were compared with each other at each day and compared with other two time points. (E.g. naïve group was compared with PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA of day 9 and with naïve samples of day 17 and 28). The data are representative of two experiments. * p < 0.05.

3.5 IL-22 expression in naïve and EAE SC tissues

Although there is very little expression of IL-22 mRNA in the SC tissues, our preliminary data suggested the protein expression of IL-22 in SC tissues, I next investigated the specific protein expression of IL-22 in SC during EAE development. Tissues were harvested from MOG-CFA and PBS-CFA immunized mice during three different phases of EAE at day 9, 17 and 28 post-immunization. Naïve tissues were also used as controls to determine whether IL-22 expression was observed under normal conditions. The embedded SC tissues in O.C.T were sectioned and stained according to the IHC staining protocol described in Materials & Methods. Looking at the control groups of naïve and PBS-CFA mice, brown staining of IL-22 was observed in both white and grey matter of SC (Figure 10) tissues of both groups. This demonstrated the IL-22 is expressed in SC under normal conditions and the similar level of IL-22 expression was observed in SC of PBS immunized mice. In comparison to the control groups, the MOG-CFA SC tissues had small increase of IL-22 expression at day 9. This increased expression was apparent in the white matter of SC tissues where inflammation is likely to occur at later stage during the disease (162, 163). At day 17, the expression of IL-22 in SC was dramatically increased, mostly in areas where inflammation was evident with foci of infiltrating leukocytes. The cluster appearance of IL-22 expression in the white matter elucidated a potential participation of IL-22 in pathology of EAE. Furthermore, the expression of IL-22 was significantly reduced during the recovery phase of the disease at day 28 when mice had reduced clinical symptoms. Thus despite the low levels of mRNA levels detected, the protein expression of IL-22 in SC correlates with EAE severity, suggesting that IL-22 may be important in the development of MS and EAE.



Figure.10 IL-22 expression in SC tissues of EAE and control mice

The SC tissues of MOG-CFA and PBS-CFA immunized mice were harvested at day 9, 17 and 28 post-immunization. Naïve mice SC tissues were also harvested as controls. Tissues were sectioned and stained with IL-22 antibody (DAB, brown) while isotype antibody staining showed no staining in tissues. MOG-immunized tissues showed small increase of IL-22 expression in both white and grey matter at day 9 with increased expression of IL-22 in white matter at day 17 followed by marked decrease during recovery at day 28. PBS-CFA and naïve control groups showed IL-22 expression under normal conditions in both white and grey matter. The images are representative of tissues from the same group of mice.
3.6 Co-localization of IL-22 with CNS resident cells

We have showed in Figure 10 that CNS-resident cells in both white and grey matter can express IL-22. To understand the role of IL-22 during EAE development it is crucial to identify the CNS cells, which express IL-22. Double immunofluorescence staining (IF) was performed to investigate the expression of IL-22 (FITC-conjugated antibody, green) in CNS astrocytes (GFAP antibody), or neurofilament (SMI-31 antibody) or neuron cells (NeuN antibody), which were visualized with appropriate TRITC-conjugated secondary antibody (red).

First, we examined the co-localization of IL-22 with GFAP. Our data show that GFAP positive astrocytes were mainly in the white matter region with elongated "star" like morphology, and IL-22 is expressed by GFAP positive astrocytes in tissues of both PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA mice (Figure 11). In naïve isotype staining, isotype for IL-22 was used together with the second primary antibody GFAP, no green staining was observed suggesting IL-22 staining in following groups was IL-22 specific. The PBS-CFA tissue showed the expression of IL-22 in both white and grey matter with GFAP positive cells mainly in the white matter. This is consistent with our data of IHC of IL-22. In comparison to PBS-CFA control group, MOG-CFA tissue showed a generally increased expression of IL-22 in the SC during disease onset at day 9 and the expression was further enhanced in tissues of day 17 EAE mice. Again the data are in good agreement with our IHC staining results that the expression levels of IL-22 in MOG-CFA tissues were increased in the clusters of cells at the site of inflammation in the white matter during early and peak phases of EAE. However in some regions of the white matter of SC in EAE mice, there is a loss of IL-22 expression together with reduced expression of GFAP,

suggesting a more complicated role of IL-22 possible involving of both immune and CNS cells. The accumulation of nuclei (Dapi/blue), IL-22 (FITC/green) and astrocytes (TRITC/red) caused the pink colour change and due to high intensity of colour change some areas to appeared white. Expectedly the IL-22 expression of MOG-CFA tissue for day 28 the recovery phase of the disease showed much lower expression of IL-22 in white matter. Overall these data demonstrated the expression of IL-22 in CNS correlates with EAE severity and more importantly IL-22 is likely to be expressed by CNS astrocytes. The data suggest IL-22 may exert its important role in EAE development through astrocytes.



Figure.11 Expression of IL-22 by CNS resident cells in SC of Naïve, PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA of immunized mice

The Naïve, PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA mice SC tissues were harvested at day 9, 17 and 28 post-immunization. Frozen sections were then stained with IL-22 (FITC/green), GFAP (TRITC/red) and DAPI (blue). IL-22 was co-localized with GFAP marker of astrocytes. The images are representative of tissues from the same group mice.

Next we examined whether IL-22 is expressed by axons using SMI-31 (TRITC/Red) antibody. In naïve isotype staining, again isotype for IL-22 was used together with the second primary antibody SMI-31, no green staining was observed suggesting IL-22 staining in other tissues was IL-22 specific. Our data show that SMI-31 positive axons red at the white matter and (Figure 12). The figures represented the nuclei staining of DAPI (blue), IL-22 (green) and SMI-31 (red) in single channels. . The PBS-CFA tissue showed the expression of IL-22 in both white and grey matter with SMI-31 markers staining axons in the white matter. This correlated with the previous histology images of IL-22 where the PBS-CFA tissues showed uniformed expression of IL-22 across the SC in both white and grey matter. However no co-localization had been observed between IL-22 and SMI-31 marker in merged channel, indicating that axons did not express IL-22 in the CNS. In comparison to control groups, MOG-CFA tissue showed increased expression of IL-22 in the SC during disease onset at day 9. This was apparent in the white matter where more significant fluorescent staining was observed. However no clinical signs were observed at this stage of EAE. The slight increase in the expression of IL-22 during disease onset agrees with our previous findings where IL-22 expression was marginally higher in the white matter of SC from day 9 EAE mice. This may suggest that IL-22 plays a role in induction phase of EAE. Surprisingly the expression levels of IL-22 were not significantly increased at this tissue, although higher than those observed in PBS-CFA, during the peak phase of the disease as anticipated. The DAPI image of MOG-CFA tissues of day 17 showed the presence of inflammatory cells in the white matter. Similar to our observation of the regional reduction of IL-22 in SC when stained with IL-22 and GFAP, the levels of IL-22 expression in day 17 EAE tissues were not dramatically

increased which reflects the different inflammation levels at different sites of SC, and it could also be due to the fact that the mouse sacrificed for this staining had already entered the recovery phase. Expectedly the IL-22 expression of MOG-CFA tissue for day 28 was reduced again in the SC, similar to our IHC staining data. Overall these data confirmed the high level of IL-22 expression in SC, and it was not expressed by SMI-31 positive axons.



Figure.12 Expression of IL-22 by CNS resident cells in SC of Naïve, PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA of immunized mice

The Naïve, and PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA SC tissues at day 9, 17 and 28 post-immunization were harvested. Frozen sections were then stained with IL-22 (FITC/green), SMI-31 (TRITC/red) and DAPI (blue). IL-22 did not co-localize with SMI-31 positive axons. The images are representative of tissues from the same group mice.

We further compared the localization of IL-22 in astrocytes and axons in the whole SC tissue by putting together the individual images in PowerPoint. The white matter is represented as the periphery area of SC, characterized by glial cells, astrocytes (GFAP/red) and myelinated axons (SMI-31/red) (Figure 13). The grey matter is presented in the middle, butterfly section, composing of neurons mainly. The SMI-31 marker of axons stained the white matter of MOG-CFA and showed no co-localization with IL-22. On the contrary the co-localization of astrocytes gave a colour change of yellow/orange in the white matter (B).



Figure.13 Expression of IL-22 by CNS resident cells in SC

The MOG-CFA SC tissues of day 9 were harvested. Frozen sections were then stained with IL-22 (FITC/green) together with SMI-31 (TRITC/red) (A) or GFAP (TRITC/red) (B) and mounted with Mounting medium containing DAPI (blue). IL-22 co-localization with GFAP marker of astrocytes appears in yellow/orange colour.

I further examined whether neuron cells express IL-22 by performing double staining of IL-22 (FITC/green) with NeuN (TRITC/red), which stains neuron-nuclei cells. The naïve staining showed expression of neuron cells bodies to be mainly concentrated in the grey matter. The double staining showed that IL-22 expression in the grey matter did not co-localize with the NeuN positive neuron cells, suggesting neuron cells did not express IL-22 (Figure 14). We also performed experiments comparing the expression of IL-22 in neuron cells in SC tissues collected from PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA group mice, however limited data were obtained due to contaminated antibodies and with time limitation in the laboratory, I was unable to repeat the experiment again.



Figure.14 Expression of IL-22 by CNS resident cells in naive mouse SC

The Naïve tissue was harvested and the frozen sections were stained with IL-22 (FITC/green), NeuN (TRITC/red) marking the expression of neurons and DAPI (blue) staining cell nuclei. IL-22 is not co-localized with NeuN marker of neurons but stains the nuclei in the grey matter and therefore appears in pink. **Chapter 4: Discussion**

MS is an autoimmune CNS disorder in both men and women (169). The cause of MS is still unknown however research evidence from MS patients and animal models suggest multifactorial etiology including genetic predisposition and environmental factors. Evidences suggest that MS can be developed in genetically susceptible individuals with exposure to critical environmental conditions, resulting in myelin damage and accumulation of pathological lesions in CNS. Despite the familial study lacking any abnormal genes associated in patients, the risk of MS developing in close relatives- sister- of MS female patient is shown to be increased by 25-fold (170). Environmental factors such as vitamin-D deficiency can also contribute to development of MS as well as increasing the risk of relapses, advanced disability, lesion injury and brain atrophy (171, 172). The current understanding of the immunopathogenesis of MS/EAE states that myelin-specific T-cells are activated in the periphery, cross BBB to transmigrate into the CNS and then are reactivated by local and infiltrating APCs that present MHC class-II associated peptides, resulting in demyelination and axonal damage (173, 174). However the secreted pro-inflammatory cytokines by these mediated T-cells along the course of EAE and their contribution to development and pathology of EAE is still poorly understood. An overwhelming attention has been focused on understanding the mediating T-cells and their pro-inflammatory cytokines that initiate and perpetuate CNS inflammation along EAE phases, making my research significant in discovering the roles of these potentially pathogenic cytokines. Th1 cells were originally thought to be the main pathogenic T-cells in EAE/MS, however this hypothesis was soon challenged with discovery of Th17 cells. The main Th1 produced pro-inflammatory cytokine is IFN-y with the ability to exacerbate EAE/MS upon treatment (175). Th1 cells activate macrophages that secrete IL-23, a critical cytokine for expansion of Th17 cells and synthesis of inflammatory cytokine IL-17A (176). IL-17 was initially identified as the key pathogenic population in autoimmune disorders, however recent evidences indicate that the cytokine may play a less important role towards development and pathogenicity of EAE as originally suggested. In contrast, IL-22 may be an important contributor to the main pathogenic function of Th17 cells (163). IL-22 secreting Th17 cells have received an overwhelming attention as they have been postulated to mark the pathogenic population of self-reactive T-cells in EAE (17, 177). Thus understanding the specific expression pattern of this cytokine at different EAE phases will be helpful in determining its role in CNS inflammation.

My study aimed to determine the role of IL-22 in MS/EAE development by examining its expression in the periphery and CNS tissues of EAE mice at early, peak and recovery stages, and whether the expression levels correlate with disease severity. C57BL/6 mice immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide were used as the inflammatory demyelinating model of MS with the histopathological observations and immune mechanisms resembling those found in MS patients and is well-established in our laboratory. Female C57BL/6 mice were s.c. immunized on day 0 with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ is the immuno-dominant epitope for CD4⁺ T-cells that induces progressive form of EAE by initiating expansion and differentiation of MOG specific autoimmune T-cells. C57BL/6 mice immunized with MOG peptide were used as the inflammatory demyelinating model of MS with the histopathological observations resembling those found in MS patients. In comparison to other EAE immunization techniques, MOG₃₅₋₅₅ is proven the most effective peptide for studying the pathogenic role of T-cell responses and conducting neurological

impairment than those induced by MBP or PLP (178). Also the PTX injection works as immunization booster and enhances EAE development by providing additional adjuvant and facilitating entrance of autoimmune T-cells into CNS (179). Our data show MOG immunized mice developed EAE around day 9 then reached peak at day 17, while control mice received PBS+CFA+PTX did not show any clinical signs of disease. Tip tail paralysis was the first apparent signs among the MOG immunized mice followed by hind limb weakness and hind paralysis with some involving the forelimbs towards the peak phase of the disease. It is possible for some mice to develop disease with maximum severity until the end of study whilst others would stay at the peak severity for one day before recovering. The recovery period for each mouse is different as some showed complete disease reversibility whilst others failed to show any improvements after the peak. The clinical score data is consistent with many other research studies where MOG induced mice have developed similar pattern of clinical pathology starting with the disease onset at around day 8-9 with the peak disease appearing 3-4 days after onset following recovery (53, 178, 180-183). We also monitored mice body weight on a daily basis. The body weight change of MOG-CFA immunized mice showed no profound changes until disease onset at day 9 with a sharp weight loss until day 17 where disease peaked and animals started to gain weight again. Overall the immunized mice consistently lost about 5-10% of their body weight with the loss reaching around 20% in severe cases during the progression of EAE possibly due to severe inflammation caused paralysis and inability to intake food (soft wet food were supplied to mice after disease onset). The data in Figures 4 and 5 suggest that the percentage of body weight loss negatively correlates with EAE severity. As this EAE in C57BL/6 is a mono-phase self-remitting disease

model, once the peak is reached the mice slowly regained weight although the paralysis was not completely recovered. The PBS-CFA control group continued to gain weight with no clinical symptoms throughout the study.

To confirm the clinical observation, I first carried out H&E staining to examine the histopathology of the SC tissues of both MOG-CFA and PBS-CFA immunized mice and compared with naïve SC tissues with EAE mice showing the obvious clinical signs as described the control mice did not show any clinical signs. The histology results of immunized MOG-CFA mouse for day 9 showed no obvious inflammation in comparison to the control group. SC tissues from MOG-CFA immunized mice at day 17 however showed massive cellular infiltration mainly in the white matter of SC. During the recovery phase at day 28, MOG-CFA immunized showed much reduced inflammation and less inflammatory cells in SC. Our findings are similar to other reports that MOG induced EAE in C57BL/6 had optimal inflammation at peak of the disease (184). Following on to examine whether the inflammation in SC leads to myelin damage and/or loss, I then performed Luxol fast blue (LFB) staining to look at demyelination of the CNS in MOG-CFA immunized mice. LFB is a method requiring over-staining and differentiation of the fiber tracts (white matter) from cell bodies (grey matter) to reveal myelin. This technique marks the difference between white and grey matter where the myelin cells sited in white matter would appear in light blue whilst the grey matter is stained purple with the nucleus. Unfortunately the demyelination staining was unsuccessful after many attempts because the samples were not fixed correctly.

To understand the importance of inflammatory cytokines in CNS inflammation and whether the systemic immune responses correlate with the development and pathogenesis of EAE, I harvested the spleens from MOG-CFA and PBS-CFA immunized mice at day 9, 17 and 28 post-immunization and analysed the production of IL-17, IL-22 and IFN- γ by these splenocytes. Single suspended spleen cells were stimulated with Media or MOG₃₅₋₅₅ for 72 hours before supernatants were harvested for ELISA test. The main goal of this approach was to compare the levels of IL-22, IL-17A and IFN- γ with the inflammation observed during the course of EAE disease. These cytokines chosen were relevant for MS and EAE, as shown by other researches (53, 185-190). My study shows that both naïve and PBS immunized mice spleen cells were unable to produce any detectable levels of IL-17, IL-22 and IFN- γ with or without the stimulation of MOG peptide in the culture. Only spleen cells collected from day 9 and day 17 EAE mice were able to produce high levels of all three cytokines upon MOG peptide stimulation in the culture, suggesting antigen specific responses of these cytokines. The expression of IL-22 from MOG-CFA samples stimulated with MOG treatment revealed similar pattern of expression as IL-17A and IFN- γ , with high levels of expression at day 9 and 17 followed by no expression at day 28. This similarity may suggest the possible involvement of IL-22 in pathogenicity of EAE. The high expression of IL-22 at day 9 may propose the significance of this cytokine for initiating and driving the inflammatory events during EAE onset. Interestingly the expression levels of IFN- γ in MOG-CFA stimulated media during disease onset also appeared to be considerably high.

The antigen specific production of all three cytokines at day 9 and 17 suggests that these cytokines play important roles in EAE development particularly at the initial and peak

stages of the disease, but unlikely at the recovery stage of the disease. The expression levels of IL-22, IL-17A and IFN- γ were also measured systemically using the serum samples taken from PBS-CFA and MOG-CFA immunized mice and the levels of expression for these cytokines were undetectable. This was perhaps due to insufficient amount of serum and result of dilution. The exact cell populations that are responsible for producing these cytokines are not known in our study. However, generally the high levels of CD4⁺ lymphocytes are observed during induction and peak of the disease in different EAE models (191-193), as many studies have shown improvements of EAE symptomatology after receiving treatments that decreases the lymphatic infiltrations (194). Similarly activated macrophages/microglia were reported to remain elevated during the recovery and post-recovery of EAE, potentially pointing towards cross talk between the activated macrophages/microglia and lymphocyte population along the course of the disease (195-197). Also it is important to consider that CD4⁺ T-cells encompass wide range of sub-populations including both pathogenic and protective functions (198-200). The suppressive role of CD4⁺ T-cells functions as CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory cells (T_{regs}), which could explain the high levels of CD4⁺T-cells throughout the disease course.

The exact roles of IFN- γ and IL-17 in the pathogenesis of many autoimmune diseases including MS are controversial and not fully understood. The xpression of IFN- γ was reported high at the EAE onset, reaching the maximum at peak and decreasing during recovery of disease (162) but IFN- γ deficient mice had exacerbated EAE. Although IL-17 was reported to have an important role in MS/EAE development surprisingly Kreymborg et al. observed that low levels of IL-17A during the peak of the disease (163). The authors suggested IL-17A could only moderately impact EAE alone. Another study using IL-17A deficient (IL-17A^{-/}) mice further confirmed that IL-17A is not essential in EAE development as the deficient mice only showed moderate resistance to EAE development (53) emphasizing on either synergistic function of these cytokines or perhaps the only minor role it plays during EAE development. Interestingly the IL-17A^{-/-} mice lymphocytes stimulated with MOG peptides showed marked increase in expression levels of IFN- γ , despite the lack of evidence suggesting any direct effect of IL-17 on production of IFN- γ by CD4⁺ T-cells. These findings perhaps suggest the ability of IL-17 to negatively regulate the development of IFN- γ . However, despite the current controversy in the roles of IFN- γ and IL-17 in MS/EAE. The current view is that both cytokines are important effector cells in the development of the CNS inflammation, possibly with different mediating mechanisms and they work in synergy in MS/EAE pathogenesis. The significant increase of antigen specific production of both IFN- γ and IL-17 cytokines by the spleen cells of EAE mice in my study also confirmed the importance of both cytokines in EAE disease.

Interestingly, similar to the IFN- γ and IL-17 production by the spleen cells in early and peak stage of EAE mice, antigen specific production of IL-22 was also observed. Our data may suggest the importance of IL-22 in MS/EAE development. A report by Kreymborg et *al* investigating the expression of IFN- γ and IL-22 in both isolated inguinal LN and spleen cells at the peak disease (day 21), thus confirmed our findings. They further discovered that the induction of IL-22 in pathogenic CD4⁺ T-cells to be time and dose dependent on IL-23 cytokine (163). IL-22 was reported the most prominent gene of Th cells after treatment with IL-23 and that IL-23 was essential for self-reactive Th cells to produce IL-22 by MOG stimulation (54). To further investigate the sole impact of IL-23 in EAE, IL- 23^{-7} mice were immunized for EAE induction and surprisingly the results showed that these mice were completely resistant to EAE development (90, 201) suggesting a pivotal role of IL-23 in MS/EAE disease. Therefore identifying the cytokine signature expression of IL-23 derived genes, such as IL-22 becomes paramount in understanding MS/EAE pathogenicity. Further to confirm the sole pathogenic role of IL-22 in development of EAE, Kebir *et al* immunized IL- $22^{-/-}$ mice with MOG peptide and unexpectedly these mice developed severe EAE similar to those found in wild type (202). This finding rejects the conclusion that IL-22 is a sole key pathogenic player of EAE development in CNS inflammation, however the contribution of this cytokine to EAE pathology cannot be dismissed completely based on this study. Similarly, IL-23 is also a key cytokine for the proliferation of Th17 cells but IL-17 deficient mice were able to develop EAE. To better understand the role of IL-22 in MS/EAE development, the expression of IL-22 in CNS tissues during the course of the disease was investigated via IHC. The constitutive expression of IL-22 in CNS tissues of both naïve and PBS-CFA control groups suggest a likely role of IL-22 in the CNS apartment. However the increased expression of IL-22 in the SC of EAE mice, particularly at the white matter area where inflammation resided at both the induction and peak phase of EAE, could indicate the potential pathogenic impact of this cytokine in EAE, this is consistent to the findings reported by Almoda et al. where the systemic production of IL-22 in SC was increased during disease onset and peak followed by marked decrease during recovery in a rat EAE model (162). Although IL-22 is abundantly expressed by CNS tissues, it is still not clear which CNS cells can express IL-22. The answers to the question may help to understand the role of IL-22 in the development of CNS inflammation. I studied the co-localization of IL-22 with CNS resident cells such as astrocytes and neuron cells using appropriate markers for performing double Immunofluorescence staining (IF). The strong co-localization of IL-22 with GFAP marker in both MOG-CFA and PBS-CFA tissues confirmed the ability of astrocytes markers to express IL-22. Surprisingly we observed some sporadic reduction of IL-22 expression mainly suited in white matter of the MOG immunized SC. Although high expression levels of IL-22 are anticipated during the peak phase of EAE, the intermittent reduction in IL-22 during peak is not known. However it is possible that the MOG-immunized SC used in the double IF staining had come from a mouse undergoing early recovery just before sacrificed. Further investigation with more EAE tissues around the peak days of EAE may help to answer the question.

The works of Keyser *et al* have shown that astrocytes are becoming more important for their key roles in CNS function. They comprise various functions such as providing energy metabolism for neuron and oligodendrocytes, managing the extracellular water and electrolyte homeostasis, regulating neurotransmitter release, producing trophic factors and modulating the immune response (203). It becomes evident that alteration in astrocyte functionality can be catastrophic to CNS homeostasis, making them crucial key player in pathogenesis of CNS disorders. An overwhelming attention has been focused on astrocytes role CNS disorders and many hypotheses have imposed the dysfunction of astrocytes to be derivative cause of MS. In agreement with these findings Kang et al has further investigated the impact of astrocytes in EAE pathogenicity and interestingly found the targeted ablation of Act1 in astrocytes, a component essential for IL-17 signaling, resulted in much reduced EAE severity and impaired IL-17-mediated inflammatory gene induction (204). Normal Th17 infiltration into CNS was reported, however Th17 cells in mice with Act1 deficient astrocyte were unable to recruit other lymphocytes and leukocytes to the site of inflammation in CNS. This strongly suggests IL-17 Act1 mediated signaling to plays a key role in effector stage of EAE via astrocytes. These findings clearly suggest astrocytes to be vital component of CNS. The co-localization results of IL-22 with astrocyte markers in SC and the similar pattern between IL-17 and IL-22 protein expression by spleen cells and CNS tissues in EAE mice may indicate that IL-22 could perhaps play a role during EAE development. IL-17 and IL-22 producing astrocytes could therefore become potential therapeutic target cells for MS disease. The double IF staining of IL-22 with SMI-31 marker showed no co-localization in any of the tissues tested, indicating that axons markers are unable to express IL-22 cells. I also examined whether CNS neuron cells express IL-22. The naïve tissues used for this staining clearly showed no co-localization of IL-22 with NeuN positive neurons. Unfortunately, the double staining of NeuN with MOG-CFA and PBS-CFA groups was

unsuccessful due to non-specific binding and also due to lack of time I was unable to repeat the experiment again.

Overall these data from IHC staining confirmed the expression of IL-22 in both white and grey matter of SC tissues and the expression is up regulated in some areas of SC tissues in EAE mice. Furthermore, IL-22 is shown to be likely expressed by CNS astrocytes but not the neuron cells or axons. Despite the dismissal of either IL-17A and IL-22 cytokines as sole pathogenic players of EAE, both cytokines were shown to infiltrate the CNS and disturb BBB integrity in MS patients and EAE models (14, 205). Also the expression levels of IL-17R and IL-22R were reported on endothelial cells and CNS-resident astrocytes (146). To further investigate the expression and correlation of IL-22 and IL-17A levels in CNS, along with IL-22R I carried out Real-Time (RT)-PCR using RNA samples collected from MOG-CFA, PBS-CFA and naïve tissues at day 9, 17 and 28. The naïve control showed very low mRNA expression of IL-22, IL-22R or IL-17A. Different to the cytokine production by spleen cells in the periphery and IL-22 protein expression in CNS for the reasons not known, the data here showed IL-22 and IL-17A mRNA levels in CNS were unchanged at day 9 and 17 while the expression was slightly increased on day 28. However the levels of IL-22R were up regulated in CNS of EAE mice on day 9, 17 and most obvious on day 28-post immunization when compared with naïve and PBS control mice. Kebir et al have detected both IL-22R and IL-17R on BBB-ECs primary culture and reported their strong expression in MS lesions. They further investigated the capacity of IL-17 and IL-22 in controlling the entrance of lymphocytes across the barrier, and showed that both IL-17 and IL-22 were able to disrupt the integrity of BBB in both in vitro and in vivo (202), thus responsible for promoting the transmigration of CD4⁺ T-cells

across the BBB. They suggested that these cytokines might play a unique role in altering the BBB and promoting the recruitment of additional CD4⁺ lymphocytes across the barrier. It is also well documented that IL-17A increases the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in brain endothelial cells (BECs), resulting in oxidative stress and mediating the activation of endothelial contractile machinery leading to loss and disorganization of tight junction proteins and eventually BBB breakdown, therefore allow the opening of BBB and entrance of lymphocytes to the CNS (187, 206-210). Surprisingly only high dose of IL-17A but neither IL-22 induced barrier disruption in bEnd.3 monolayer culture nor IL-22R detected by RT-PCR despite the expression of IL-17A receptor in the monolayer (187). Whether IL-17A alone or indeed a combined effect of both IL-17A and IL-22 are able to alter the permeability of BBB thus facilitating the immune cell infiltration in CNS is not fully understood. However the data from my study and from current publications suggest IL-22 is likely to play an important role in MS/EAE development. Further research to elucidate the underlying mechanisms of IL-22 function in MS/EAE is essential to gain a better understanding of its role in EAE pathogenicity. The concept of a single cytokine responsible for pathogenicity of EAE merely based on its presence is proven unviable. The previous interpretation that a cytokine could solely be liable for development of autoimmune disease had major impact on misinterpreting the function of Th1 and Th17 cells in EAE/MS (211-214). MS is caused by multiple factors, including cytokines that function in many ways to either mediate inflammation or exert immunosuppressive functions in MS (215-218). These inflammatory cytokines may provide the necessary tools for developing potential anti-inflammatory drugs targeting the pro-inflammatory cytokines responsible for the pathogenesis of MS. This demonstrates

the importance of studying the function and the mechanisms of these immune cytokines in the development of autoimmune MS disease. Thus despite several genes deficient studies suggesting that none of IL-22, IL-17A and IFN- γ are solely responsible for pathogenicity of EAE, many other reports strongly suggest that IL-22, IL-17A and IFN- γ are important players in MS/EAE development (205, 219, 220). My study examined the expression profile of IL-22, IL-17A and IFN- γ in spleen cells and in CNS during EAE development, similar to the expression pattern of IL-17A and IFN- γ , IL-22 protein production by splenocytes and its expression in CNS was elevated at early and peak phases of EAE disease compared with naïve and PBS control tissues. The data indicate IL-22 has an important function in the development of MS/EAE together with IL-17A and/or IFN- γ , possibly through peripheral immune cells or CNS astrocytes.

References

- 1. Dameshek W. 1966. Autoimmunity--general concepts. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 135: 436-42
- 2. Sathyabama S, Khan N, Agrewala JN. 2014. Friendly pathogens: prevent or provoke autoimmunity. *Crit Rev Microbiol* 40: 273-80
- 3. Jager A, Kuchroo VK. 2010. Effector and regulatory T-cell subsets in autoimmunity and tissue inflammation. *Scand J Immunol* 72: 173-84
- 4. Haferkamp O. 1990. [General pathology of autoimmunity in the human]. *Internist* (*Berl*) 31: 9-18
- 5. Bot A. 2014. In this issue: autoimmunity and innate immunity. *Int Rev Immunol* 33: 1-2
- 6. Cassan C, Liblau RS. 2007. Immune tolerance and control of CNS autoimmunity: from animal models to MS patients. *J Neurochem* 100: 883-92
- 7. Wingerchuk DM, Weinshenker BG. 2000. Multiple sclerosis: epidemiology, genetics, classification, natural history, and clinical outcome measures. *Neuroimaging Clin N Am* 10: 611-24 ,vii
- 8. Frohman EM, Racke MK, Raine CS. 2006. Multiple sclerosis--the plaque and its pathogenesis. *N Engl J Med* 354: 942-55
- 9. Compston A, Coles A. 2008. Multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* 372: 1502-17
- El-behi M, Rostami A, Ciric B. 2010. Current views on the roles of Th1 and Th17 cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* 5: 189-97
- 11. Goverman J. 2009. Autoimmune T cell responses in the central nervous system. *Nat Rev Immunol* 9: 393-407
- 12. Bhat R, Steinman L. 2009. Innate and adaptive autoimmunity directed to the central nervous system. *Neuron* 64: 123-32
- 13. Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. 2007. T(H)-17 cells in the circle of immunity and autoimmunity. *Nat Immunol* 8: 345-50
- Tzartos JS, Friese MA, Craner MJ, Palace J, Newcombe J, Esiri MM, Fugger L.
 2008. Interleukin-17 production in central nervous system-infiltrating T cells and glial cells is associated with active disease in multiple sclerosis. *Am J Pathol* 172: 146-55
- 15. Steinman L. 2008. A rush to judgment on Th17. J Exp Med 205: 1517-22
- 16. Kroenke MA, Carlson TJ, Andjelkovic AV, Segal BM. 2008. IL-12- and IL-23modulated T cells induce distinct types of EAE based on histology, CNS chemokine profile, and response to cytokine inhibition. *J Exp Med* 205: 1535-41
- Stromnes IM, Cerretti LM, Liggitt D, Harris RA, Goverman JM. 2008.
 Differential regulation of central nervous system autoimmunity by T(H)1 and T(H)17 cells. *Nat Med* 14: 337-42

- Fox RJ, Bethoux F, Goldman MD, Cohen JA. 2006. Multiple sclerosis: advances in understanding, diagnosing, and treating the underlying disease. *Cleve Clin J Med* 73: 91-102
- 19. Handel AE, Ramagopalan SV. 2012. Vitamin D and multiple sclerosis: an interaction between genes and environment. *Mult Scler* 18: 2-4
- 20. Thomson G. 1995. HLA disease associations: models for the study of complex human genetic disorders. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci* 32: 183-219
- 21. Compston A, Sawcer S. 2002. Genetic analysis of multiple sclerosis. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* 2: 259-66
- 22. Sawcer S, Goodfellow PN, Compston A. 1997. The genetic analysis of multiple sclerosis. *Trends Genet* 13: 234-9
- 23. Cresswell P. 1994. Assembly, transport, and function of MHC class II molecules. *Annu Rev Immunol* 12: 259-93
- 24. McDonald WI, Sears TA. 1970. The effects of experimental demyelination on conduction in the central nervous system. *Brain* 93: 583-98
- 25. Vollmer T. 2007. The natural history of relapses in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci* 256 Suppl 1: S5-13
- 26. Fox RJ, Beall E, Bhattacharyya P, Chen JT, Sakaie K. 2011. Advanced MRI in multiple sclerosis: current status and future challenges. *Neurol Clin* 29: 357-80
- 27. Scalfari A, Neuhaus A, Degenhardt A, Rice GP, Muraro PA, Daumer M, Ebers GC. 2010. The natural history of multiple sclerosis: a geographically based study 10: relapses and long-term disability. *Brain* 133: 1914-29
- 28. Fox RJ, Cohen JA. 2001. Multiple sclerosis: the importance of early recognition and treatment. *Cleve Clin J Med* 68: 157-71
- 29. Craner MJ, Zajicek JP. 2001. Immunosuppressive treatments in MS--side effects from azathioprine. *Journal of Neurology* 248: 625-6
- 30. Hartung HP, Bar-Or A, Zoukos Y. 2004. What do we know about the mechanism of action of disease-modifying treatments in MS? *Journal of Neurology* 251 Suppl 5: v12-v29
- 31. Zhang J, Hutton G, Zang Y. 2002. A comparison of the mechanisms of action of interferon beta and glatiramer acetate in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Clin Ther* 24: 1998-2021
- 32. Schrempf W, Ziemssen T. 2007. Glatiramer acetate: mechanisms of action in multiple sclerosis. *Autoimmun Rev* 6: 469-75
- 33. Ziemssen T, Schrempf W. 2007. Glatiramer acetate: mechanisms of action in multiple sclerosis. *Int Rev Neurobiol* 79: 537-70
- 34. Farina C, Weber MS, Meinl E, Wekerle H, Hohlfeld R. 2005. Glatiramer acetate in multiple sclerosis: update on potential mechanisms of action. *Lancet Neurol* 4: 567-75
- 35. Putzki N, Kollia K, Woods S, Igwe E, Diener HC, Limmroth V. 2009. Natalizumab is effective as second line therapy in the treatment of relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Neurol* 16: 424-6
- 36. Hutchinson M. 2007. Natalizumab: A new treatment for relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis. *Ther Clin Risk Manag* 3: 259-68
- 37. Putzki N, Yaldizli O, Tettenborn B, Diener HC. 2009. Multiple sclerosis associated fatigue during natalizumab treatment. *J Neurol Sci* 285: 109-13

- 38. Gauthier SA, Weiner HL. 2005. Cyclophosphamide therapy for MS. *Int MS J* 12: 52-8
- Weiner HL, Cohen JA. 2002. Treatment of multiple sclerosis with cyclophosphamide: critical review of clinical and immunologic effects. *Mult Scler* 8: 142-54
- 40. Beyeen AD, Adzemovic MZ, Ockinger J, Stridh P, Becanovic K, Laaksonen H, Lassmann H, Harris RA, Hillert J, Alfredsson L, Celius EG, Harbo HF, Kockum I, Jagodic M, Olsson T. 2010. IL-22RA2 associates with multiple sclerosis and macrophage effector mechanisms in experimental neuroinflammation. *J Immunol* 185: 6883-90
- 41. Steinman L. 1996. Multiple sclerosis: a coordinated immunological attack against myelin in the central nervous system. *Cell* 85: 299-302
- 42. Martin R, McFarland HF, McFarlin DE. 1992. Immunological aspects of demyelinating diseases. *Annu Rev Immunol* 10: 153-87
- 43. Kuchroo VK, Anderson AC, Waldner H, Munder M, Bettelli E, Nicholson LB. 2002. T cell response in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE): role of self and cross-reactive antigens in shaping, tuning, and regulating the autopathogenic T cell repertoire. *Annu Rev Immunol* 20: 101-23
- 44. Steinman L. 1999. Assessment of animal models for MS and demyelinating disease in the design of rational therapy. *Neuron* 24: 511-4
- 45. Teitelbaum D, Meshorer A, Hirshfeld T, Arnon R, Sela M. 1971. Suppression of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis by a synthetic polypeptide. *Eur J Immunol* 1: 242-8
- Yednock TA, Cannon C, Fritz LC, Sanchez-Madrid F, Steinman L, Karin N. 1992. Prevention of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by antibodies against alpha 4 beta 1 integrin. *Nature* 356: 63-6
- 47. Pulendran B, Smith JL, Caspary G, Brasel K, Pettit D, Maraskovsky E, Maliszewski CR. 1999. Distinct dendritic cell subsets differentially regulate the class of immune response in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96: 1036-41
- 48. Jiang H, Braunstein NS, Yu B, Winchester R, Chess L. 2001. CD8+ T cells control the TH phenotype of MBP-reactive CD4+ T cells in EAE mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98: 6301-6
- 49. Shortman K, Heath WR. 2010. The CD8+ dendritic cell subset. *Immunol Rev* 234: 18-31
- 50. Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC. 2003. Tolerogenic dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 21: 685-711
- 51. Legge KL, Gregg RK, Maldonado-Lopez R, Li L, Caprio JC, Moser M, Zaghouani H. 2002. On the role of dendritic cells in peripheral T cell tolerance and modulation of autoimmunity. *J Exp Med* 196: 217-27
- 52. Dittel BN, Visintin I, Merchant RM, Janeway CA, Jr. 1999. Presentation of the self antigen myelin basic protein by dendritic cells leads to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 163: 32-9
- 53. Komiyama Y, Nakae S, Matsuki T, Nambu A, Ishigame H, Kakuta S, Sudo K, Iwakura Y. 2006. IL-17 plays an important role in the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 177: 566-73

- 54. Liang SC, Tan XY, Luxenberg DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, Fouser LA. 2006. Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. *J Exp Med* 203: 2271-9
- 55. Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein WM, Mattson J, Basham B, Sedgwick JD, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ. 2005. IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. *J Exp Med* 201: 233-40
- 56. Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Napolitani G, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F. 2007. Interleukins 1beta and 6 but not transforming growth factor-beta are essential for the differentiation of interleukin 17-producing human T helper cells. *Nat Immunol* 8: 942-9
- 57. Wilson NJ, Boniface K, Chan JR, McKenzie BS, Blumenschein WM, Mattson JD, Basham B, Smith K, Chen T, Morel F, Lecron JC, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ, McClanahan TK, Bowman EP, de Waal Malefyt R. 2007. Development, cytokine profile and function of human interleukin 17-producing helper T cells. *Nat Immunol* 8: 950-7
- 58. Manel N, Unutmaz D, Littman DR. 2008. The differentiation of human T(H)-17 cells requires transforming growth factor-beta and induction of the nuclear receptor RORgammat. *Nat Immunol* 9: 641-9
- 59. Volpe E, Servant N, Zollinger R, Bogiatzi SI, Hupe P, Barillot E, Soumelis V. 2008. A critical function for transforming growth factor-beta, interleukin 23 and proinflammatory cytokines in driving and modulating human T(H)-17 responses. *Nat Immunol* 9: 650-7
- 60. Kattah MG, Wong MT, Yocum MD, Utz PJ. 2008. Cytokines secreted in response to Toll-like receptor ligand stimulation modulate differentiation of human Th17 cells. *Arthritis Rheum* 58: 1619-29
- 61. El Behi M, Dubucquoi S, Lefranc D, Zephir H, De Seze J, Vermersch P, Prin L. 2005. New insights into cell responses involved in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. *Immunol Lett* 96: 11-26
- 62. Ransohoff RM, Kivisakk P, Kidd G. 2003. Three or more routes for leukocyte migration into the central nervous system. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3: 569-81
- 63. Lowenstein PR. 2002. Immunology of viral-vector-mediated gene transfer into the brain: an evolutionary and developmental perspective. *Trends Immunol* 23: 23-30
- 64. Aloisi F, Ria F, Adorini L. 2000. Regulation of T-cell responses by CNS antigenpresenting cells: different roles for microglia and astrocytes. *Immunol Today* 21: 141-7
- 65. Furtado GC, Marcondes MC, Latkowski JA, Tsai J, Wensky A, Lafaille JJ. 2008. Swift entry of myelin-specific T lymphocytes into the central nervous system in spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 181: 4648-55
- 66. O'Connor RA, Prendergast CT, Sabatos CA, Lau CW, Leech MD, Wraith DC, Anderton SM. 2008. Cutting edge: Th1 cells facilitate the entry of Th17 cells to the central nervous system during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 181: 3750-4
- 67. Hafler DA, Compston A, Sawcer S, Lander ES, Daly MJ, De Jager PL, de Bakker PI, Gabriel SB, Mirel DB, Ivinson AJ, Pericak-Vance MA, Gregory SG, Rioux JD, McCauley JL, Haines JL, Barcellos LF, Cree B, Oksenberg JR, Hauser SL.

2007. Risk alleles for multiple sclerosis identified by a genomewide study. *N Engl J Med* 357: 851-62

- 68. Piccio L, Rossi B, Scarpini E, Laudanna C, Giagulli C, Issekutz AC, Vestweber D, Butcher EC, Constantin G. 2002. Molecular mechanisms involved in lymphocyte recruitment in inflamed brain microvessels: critical roles for P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 and heterotrimeric G(i)-linked receptors. *J Immunol* 168: 1940-9
- 69. Reboldi A, Coisne C, Baumjohann D, Benvenuto F, Bottinelli D, Lira S, Uccelli A, Lanzavecchia A, Engelhardt B, Sallusto F. 2009. C-C chemokine receptor 6-regulated entry of TH-17 cells into the CNS through the choroid plexus is required for the initiation of EAE. *Nat Immunol* 10: 514-23
- 70. Lassmann H, Wisniewski HM. 1978. Chronic relapsing EAE. Time course of neurological symptoms and pathology. *Acta Neuropathol* 43: 35-42
- 71. Kivisakk P, Imitola J, Rasmussen S, Elyaman W, Zhu B, Ransohoff RM, Khoury SJ. 2009. Localizing central nervous system immune surveillance: meningeal antigen-presenting cells activate T cells during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Ann Neurol* 65: 457-69
- 72. Bos JD, Hagenaars C, Das PK, Krieg SR, Voorn WJ, Kapsenberg ML. 1989. Predominance of "memory" T cells (CD4+, CDw29+) over "naive" T cells (CD4+, CD45R+) in both normal and diseased human skin. *Arch Dermatol Res* 281: 24-30
- 73. Lovett-Racke AE, Trotter JL, Lauber J, Perrin PJ, June CH, Racke MK. 1998. Decreased dependence of myelin basic protein-reactive T cells on CD28-mediated costimulation in multiple sclerosis patients. A marker of activated/memory T cells. *J Clin Invest* 101: 725-30
- 74. Caspi RR. 1998. IL-12 in autoimmunity. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* 88: 4-13
- 75. Murphy CA, Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Sedgwick JD, Cua DJ. 2003. Divergent pro- and antiinflammatory roles for IL-23 and IL-12 in joint autoimmune inflammation. *J Exp Med* 198: 1951-7
- 76. Traugott U, Lebon P. 1988. Multiple sclerosis: involvement of interferons in lesion pathogenesis. *Ann Neurol* 24: 243-51
- 77. Yang J, Murphy TL, Ouyang W, Murphy KM. 1999. Induction of interferongamma production in Th1 CD4+ T cells: evidence for two distinct pathways for promoter activation. *Eur J Immunol* 29: 548-55
- 78. Khoury SJ, Hancock WW, Weiner HL. 1992. Oral tolerance to myelin basic protein and natural recovery from experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis are associated with downregulation of inflammatory cytokines and differential upregulation of transforming growth factor beta, interleukin 4, and prostaglandin E expression in the brain. *J Exp Med* 176: 1355-64
- 79. Merrill JE, Kono DH, Clayton J, Ando DG, Hinton DR, Hofman FM. 1992. Inflammatory leukocytes and cytokines in the peptide-induced disease of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in SJL and B10.PL mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89: 574-8
- Chitnis T, Najafian N, Benou C, Salama AD, Grusby MJ, Sayegh MH, Khoury SJ. 2001. Effect of targeted disruption of STAT4 and STAT6 on the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Clin Invest* 108: 739-47

- 81. Bettelli E, Sullivan B, Szabo SJ, Sobel RA, Glimcher LH, Kuchroo VK. 2004. Loss of T-bet, but not STAT1, prevents the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Exp Med* 200: 79-87
- 82. Lovett-Racke AE, Rocchini AE, Choy J, Northrop SC, Hussain RZ, Ratts RB, Sikder D, Racke MK. 2004. Silencing T-bet defines a critical role in the differentiation of autoreactive T lymphocytes. *Immunity* 21: 719-31
- 83. Panitch HS. 1992. Interferons in multiple sclerosis. A review of the evidence. *Drugs* 44: 946-62
- 84. Panitch HS, Hirsch RL, Haley AS, Johnson KP. 1987. Exacerbations of multiple sclerosis in patients treated with gamma interferon. *Lancet* 1: 893-5
- 85. Panitch HS, Hirsch RL, Schindler J, Johnson KP. 1987. Treatment of multiple sclerosis with gamma interferon: exacerbations associated with activation of the immune system. *Neurology* 37: 1097-102
- 86. Willenborg DO, Fordham S, Bernard CC, Cowden WB, Ramshaw IA. 1996. IFNgamma plays a critical down-regulatory role in the induction and effector phase of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-induced autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 157: 3223-7
- 87. Tran EH, Prince EN, Owens T. 2000. IFN-gamma shapes immune invasion of the central nervous system via regulation of chemokines. *J Immunol* 164: 2759-68
- Zhang GX, Gran B, Yu S, Li J, Siglienti I, Chen X, Kamoun M, Rostami A. 2003. Induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in IL-12 receptor-beta 2-deficient mice: IL-12 responsiveness is not required in the pathogenesis of inflammatory demyelination in the central nervous system. *J Immunol* 170: 2153-60
- 89. Ferber IA, Brocke S, Taylor-Edwards C, Ridgway W, Dinisco C, Steinman L, Dalton D, Fathman CG. 1996. Mice with a disrupted IFN-gamma gene are susceptible to the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). *J Immunol* 156: 5-7
- 90. Gran B, Zhang GX, Yu S, Li J, Chen XH, Ventura ES, Kamoun M, Rostami A. 2002. IL-12p35-deficient mice are susceptible to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: evidence for redundancy in the IL-12 system in the induction of central nervous system autoimmune demyelination. *J Immunol* 169: 7104-10
- 91. Ivanov, II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, Cua DJ, Littman DR. 2006. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* 126: 1121-33
- 92. Yang XO, Pappu BP, Nurieva R, Akimzhanov A, Kang HS, Chung Y, Ma L, Shah B, Panopoulos AD, Schluns KS, Watowich SS, Tian Q, Jetten AM, Dong C. 2008. T helper 17 lineage differentiation is programmed by orphan nuclear receptors ROR alpha and ROR gamma. *Immunity* 28: 29-39
- 93. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, Weaver CT. 2005. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat Immunol* 6: 1123-32
- 94. Park H, Li Z, Yang XO, Chang SH, Nurieva R, Wang YH, Wang Y, Hood L, Zhu Z, Tian Q, Dong C. 2005. A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. *Nat Immunol* 6: 1133-41

- 95. McGeachy MJ, Chen Y, Tato CM, Laurence A, Joyce-Shaikh B, Blumenschein WM, McClanahan TK, O'Shea JJ, Cua DJ. 2009. The interleukin 23 receptor is essential for the terminal differentiation of interleukin 17-producing effector T helper cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol* 10: 314-24
- 96. Cua DJ, Sherlock J, Chen Y, Murphy CA, Joyce B, Seymour B, Lucian L, To W, Kwan S, Churakova T, Zurawski S, Wiekowski M, Lira SA, Gorman D, Kastelein RA, Sedgwick JD. 2003. Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. *Nature* 421: 744-8
- 97. Aggarwal S, Ghilardi N, Xie MH, de Sauvage FJ, Gurney AL. 2003. Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4 T cell activation state characterized by the production of interleukin-17. *J Biol Chem* 278: 1910-4
- 98. Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B. 2006. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity* 24: 179-89
- 99. Ghilardi N, Ouyang W. 2007. Targeting the development and effector functions of TH17 cells. *Semin Immunol* 19: 383-93
- Yang XO, Panopoulos AD, Nurieva R, Chang SH, Wang D, Watowich SS, Dong C. 2007. STAT3 regulates cytokine-mediated generation of inflammatory helper T cells. *J Biol Chem* 282: 9358-63
- Korn T, Bettelli E, Gao W, Awasthi A, Jager A, Strom TB, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. 2007. IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory T(H)17 cells. *Nature* 448: 484-7
- 102. Zhou L, Ivanov, II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, Levy DE, Leonard WJ, Littman DR. 2007. IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nat Immunol* 8: 967-74
- 103. Hofstetter HH, Ibrahim SM, Koczan D, Kruse N, Weishaupt A, Toyka KV, Gold R. 2005. Therapeutic efficacy of IL-17 neutralization in murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Cell Immunol* 237: 123-30
- 104. Nakae S, Nambu A, Sudo K, Iwakura Y. 2003. Suppression of immune induction of collagen-induced arthritis in IL-17-deficient mice. *J Immunol* 171: 6173-7
- 105. Rohn TA, Jennings GT, Hernandez M, Grest P, Beck M, Zou Y, Kopf M, Bachmann MF. 2006. Vaccination against IL-17 suppresses autoimmune arthritis and encephalomyelitis. *Eur J Immunol* 36: 2857-67
- 106. Haak S, Croxford AL, Kreymborg K, Heppner FL, Pouly S, Becher B, Waisman A. 2009. IL-17A and IL-17F do not contribute vitally to autoimmune neuro-inflammation in mice. *J Clin Invest* 119: 61-9
- 107. Lock C, Hermans G, Pedotti R, Brendolan A, Schadt E, Garren H, Langer-Gould A, Strober S, Cannella B, Allard J, Klonowski P, Austin A, Lad N, Kaminski N, Galli SJ, Oksenberg JR, Raine CS, Heller R, Steinman L. 2002. Gene-microarray analysis of multiple sclerosis lesions yields new targets validated in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Nat Med* 8: 500-8
- 108. Lees JR, Iwakura Y, Russell JH. 2008. Host T cells are the main producers of IL-17 within the central nervous system during initiation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis induced by adoptive transfer of Th1 cell lines. J Immunol 180: 8066-72

- 109. Gocke AR, Cravens PD, Ben LH, Hussain RZ, Northrop SC, Racke MK, Lovett-Racke AE. 2007. T-bet regulates the fate of Th1 and Th17 lymphocytes in autoimmunity. *J Immunol* 178: 1341-8
- 110. Abromson-Leeman S, Bronson RT, Dorf ME. 2009. Encephalitogenic T cells that stably express both T-bet and ROR gamma t consistently produce IFNgamma but have a spectrum of IL-17 profiles. *J Neuroimmunol* 215: 10-24
- 111. Shi G, Cox CA, Vistica BP, Tan C, Wawrousek EF, Gery I. 2008. Phenotype switching by inflammation-inducing polarized Th17 cells, but not by Th1 cells. *J Immunol* 181: 7205-13
- 112. Korn T, Reddy J, Gao W, Bettelli E, Awasthi A, Petersen TR, Backstrom BT, Sobel RA, Wucherpfennig KW, Strom TB, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. 2007. Myelin-specific regulatory T cells accumulate in the CNS but fail to control autoimmune inflammation. *Nat Med* 13: 423-31
- 113. Jager A, Dardalhon V, Sobel RA, Bettelli E, Kuchroo VK. 2009. Th1, Th17, and Th9 effector cells induce experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis with different pathological phenotypes. *J Immunol* 183: 7169-77
- 114. Lafaille JJ, Nagashima K, Katsuki M, Tonegawa S. 1994. High incidence of spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis in immunodeficient anti-myelin basic protein T cell receptor transgenic mice. *Cell* 78: 399-408
- 115. Lafaille JJ, Nagashima K, Katsuki M, Tonegawa S. 2013. Pillars article: High incidence of spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis in immunodeficient antimyelin basic protein T cell receptor transgenic mice. Cell. 1994. 78: 399-408. *J Immunol* 190: 3028-37
- 116. Cabbage SE, Huseby ES, Sather BD, Brabb T, Liggitt D, Goverman J. 2007. Regulatory T cells maintain long-term tolerance to myelin basic protein by inducing a novel, dynamic state of T cell tolerance. *J Immunol* 178: 887-96
- 117. Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, Weiner HL, Kuchroo VK. 2006. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* 441: 235-8
- 118. Zhou L, Lopes JE, Chong MM, Ivanov, II, Min R, Victora GD, Shen Y, Du J, Rubtsov YP, Rudensky AY, Ziegler SF, Littman DR. 2008. TGF-beta-induced Foxp3 inhibits T(H)17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORgammat function. *Nature* 453: 236-40
- Du J, Huang C, Zhou B, Ziegler SF. 2008. Isoform-specific inhibition of ROR alpha-mediated transcriptional activation by human FOXP3. *J Immunol* 180: 4785-92
- 120. Laurence A, Tato CM, Davidson TS, Kanno Y, Chen Z, Yao Z, Blank RB, Meylan F, Siegel R, Hennighausen L, Shevach EM, O'Shea J J. 2007. Interleukin-2 signaling via STAT5 constrains T helper 17 cell generation. *Immunity* 26: 371-81
- 121. Veldhoen M, Hirota K, Westendorf AM, Buer J, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, Stockinger B. 2008. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor links TH17-cell-mediated autoimmunity to environmental toxins. *Nature* 453: 106-9
- 122. Quintana FJ, Basso AS, Iglesias AH, Korn T, Farez MF, Bettelli E, Caccamo M, Oukka M, Weiner HL. 2008. Control of T(reg) and T(H)17 cell differentiation by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Nature* 453: 65-71

- 123. Tsaknaridis L, Spencer L, Culbertson N, Hicks K, LaTocha D, Chou YK, Whitham RH, Bakke A, Jones RE, Offner H, Bourdette DN, Vandenbark AA. 2003. Functional assay for human CD4+CD25+ Treg cells reveals an agedependent loss of suppressive activity. *J Neurosci Res* 74: 296-308
- 124. Viglietta V, Baecher-Allan C, Weiner HL, Hafler DA. 2004. Loss of functional suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Exp Med* 199: 971-9
- 125. Zhang X, Koldzic DN, Izikson L, Reddy J, Nazareno RF, Sakaguchi S, Kuchroo VK, Weiner HL. 2004. IL-10 is involved in the suppression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells. *Int Immunol* 16: 249-56
- 126. Moore KW, Vieira P, Fiorentino DF, Trounstine ML, Khan TA, Mosmann TR. 1990. Homology of cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor (IL-10) to the Epstein-Barr virus gene BCRFI. *Science* 248: 1230-4
- 127. Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O'Garra A. 2001. Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* 19: 683-765
- 128. de Waal Malefyt R, Yssel H, de Vries JE. 1993. Direct effects of IL-10 on subsets of human CD4+ T cell clones and resting T cells. Specific inhibition of IL-2 production and proliferation. *J Immunol* 150: 4754-65
- 129. Waubant E, Gee L, Bacchetti P, Sloan R, Cotleur A, Rudick R, Goodkin D. 2001. Relationship between serum levels of IL-10, MRI activity and interferon beta-1a therapy in patients with relapsing remitting MS. *J Neuroimmunol* 112: 139-45
- 130. Rep MH, Hintzen RQ, Polman CH, van Lier RA. 1996. Recombinant interferonbeta blocks proliferation but enhances interleukin-10 secretion by activated human T-cells. *J Neuroimmunol* 67: 111-8
- 131. Bettelli E, Das MP, Howard ED, Weiner HL, Sobel RA, Kuchroo VK. 1998. IL-10 is critical in the regulation of autoimmune encephalomyelitis as demonstrated by studies of IL-10- and IL-4-deficient and transgenic mice. *J Immunol* 161: 3299-306
- 132. Dumoutier L, Lejeune D, Colau D, Renauld JC. 2001. Cloning and characterization of IL-22 binding protein, a natural antagonist of IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor/IL-22. *J Immunol* 166: 7090-5
- 133. Wolk K, Witte E, Witte K, Warszawska K, Sabat R. 2010. Biology of interleukin-22. *Semin Immunopathol* 32: 17-31
- 134. Sabat R. 2010. IL-10 family of cytokines. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21: 315-24
- 135. Dumoutier L, Louahed J, Renauld JC. 2000. Cloning and characterization of IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor (IL-TIF), a novel cytokine structurally related to IL-10 and inducible by IL-9. *J Immunol* 164: 1814-9
- 136. Wolk K, Kunz S, Witte E, Friedrich M, Asadullah K, Sabat R. 2004. IL-22 increases the innate immunity of tissues. *Immunity* 21: 241-54
- 137. Wolk K, Witte E, Hoffmann U, Doecke WD, Endesfelder S, Asadullah K, Sterry W, Volk HD, Wittig BM, Sabat R. 2007. IL-22 induces lipopolysaccharidebinding protein in hepatocytes: a potential systemic role of IL-22 in Crohn's disease. *J Immunol* 178: 5973-81
- 138. Rubino SJ, Geddes K, Girardin SE. 2012. Innate IL-17 and IL-22 responses to enteric bacterial pathogens. *Trends Immunol* 33: 112-8

- 139. Kumar P, Rajasekaran K, Palmer JM, Thakar MS, Malarkannan S. 2013. IL-22: An Evolutionary Missing-Link Authenticating the Role of the Immune System in Tissue Regeneration. J Cancer 4: 57-65
- 140. Muhl H, Scheiermann P, Bachmann M, Hardle L, Heinrichs A, Pfeilschifter J. 2013. IL-22 in tissue-protective therapy. *Br J Pharmacol* 169: 761-71
- 141. Radaeva S, Sun R, Pan HN, Hong F, Gao B. 2004. Interleukin 22 (IL-22) plays a protective role in T cell-mediated murine hepatitis: IL-22 is a survival factor for hepatocytes via STAT3 activation. *Hepatology* 39: 1332-42
- 142. Aujla SJ, Chan YR, Zheng M, Fei M, Askew DJ, Pociask DA, Reinhart TA, McAllister F, Edeal J, Gaus K, Husain S, Kreindler JL, Dubin PJ, Pilewski JM, Myerburg MM, Mason CA, Iwakura Y, Kolls JK. 2008. IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against Gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. *Nat Med* 14: 275-81
- Simonian PL, Wehrmann F, Roark CL, Born WK, O'Brien RL, Fontenot AP.
 2010. gammadelta T cells protect against lung fibrosis via IL-22. *J Exp Med* 207: 2239-53
- 144. Sugimoto K, Ogawa A, Mizoguchi E, Shimomura Y, Andoh A, Bhan AK, Blumberg RS, Xavier RJ, Mizoguchi A. 2008. IL-22 ameliorates intestinal inflammation in a mouse model of ulcerative colitis. *J Clin Invest* 118: 534-44
- 145. Zenewicz LA, Yancopoulos GD, Valenzuela DM, Murphy AJ, Stevens S, Flavell RA. 2008. Innate and adaptive interleukin-22 protects mice from inflammatory bowel disease. *Immunity* 29: 947-57
- 146. Ouyang W, Kolls JK, Zheng Y. 2008. The biological functions of T helper 17 cell effector cytokines in inflammation. *Immunity* 28: 454-67
- 147. Zheng Y, Danilenko DM, Valdez P, Kasman I, Eastham-Anderson J, Wu J, Ouyang W. 2007. Interleukin-22, a T(H)17 cytokine, mediates IL-23-induced dermal inflammation and acanthosis. *Nature* 445: 648-51
- 148. Geboes L, Dumoutier L, Kelchtermans H, Schurgers E, Mitera T, Renauld JC, Matthys P. 2009. Proinflammatory role of the Th17 cytokine interleukin-22 in collagen-induced arthritis in C57BL/6 mice. *Arthritis Rheum* 60: 390-5
- 149. Sonnenberg GF, Nair MG, Kirn TJ, Zaph C, Fouser LA, Artis D. 2010. Pathological versus protective functions of IL-22 in airway inflammation are regulated by IL-17A. J Exp Med 207: 1293-305
- 150. Witte E, Witte K, Warszawska K, Sabat R, Wolk K. 2010. Interleukin-22: a cytokine produced by T, NK and NKT cell subsets, with importance in the innate immune defense and tissue protection. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 21: 365-79
- 151. Wolk K, Kunz S, Asadullah K, Sabat R. 2002. Cutting edge: immune cells as sources and targets of the IL-10 family members? *J Immunol* 168: 5397-402
- 152. Ramirez JM, Brembilla NC, Sorg O, Chicheportiche R, Matthes T, Dayer JM, Saurat JH, Roosnek E, Chizzolini C. 2010. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor reveals distinct requirements for IL-22 and IL-17 production by human T helper cells. *Eur J Immunol* 40: 2450-9
- 153. Wolk K, Sabat R. 2006. Interleukin-22: a novel T- and NK-cell derived cytokine that regulates the biology of tissue cells. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 17: 367-80
- 154. Dumoutier L, de Meester C, Tavernier J, Renauld JC. 2009. New activation modus of STAT3: a tyrosine-less region of the interleukin-22 receptor recruits STAT3 by interacting with its coiled-coil domain. *J Biol Chem* 284: 26377-84

- 155. Tagoe C, Putterman C. 2012. JAK2 inhibition in murine systemic lupus erythematosus. *Immunotherapy* 4: 369-72
- 156. Jia Y, Jing J, Bai Y, Li Z, Liu L, Luo J, Liu M, Chen H. 2011. Amelioration of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by plumbagin through down-regulation of JAK-STAT and NF-kappaB signaling pathways. *PLoS One* 6: e27006
- 157. Jiang Z, Li H, Fitzgerald DC, Zhang GX, Rostami A. 2009. MOG(35-55) i.v suppresses experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis partially through modulation of Th17 and JAK/STAT pathways. *Eur J Immunol* 39: 789-99
- 158. Arumugam S, Thandavarayan RA, Veeraveedu PT, Giridharan VV, Soetikno V, Harima M, Suzuki K, Nagata M, Tagaki R, Kodama M, Watanabe K. 2012. Involvement of AMPK and MAPK signaling during the progression of experimental autoimmune myocarditis in rats and its blockade using a novel antioxidant. *Exp Mol Pathol* 93: 183-9
- 159. Noubade R, Krementsov DN, Del Rio R, Thornton T, Nagaleekar V, Saligrama N, Spitzack A, Spach K, Sabio G, Davis RJ, Rincon M, Teuscher C. 2011. Activation of p38 MAPK in CD4 T cells controls IL-17 production and autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Blood* 118: 3290-300
- 160. Eyerich S, Eyerich K, Cavani A, Schmidt-Weber C. 2010. IL-17 and IL-22: siblings, not twins. *Trends Immunol* 31: 354-61
- Durelli L, Conti L, Clerico M, Boselli D, Contessa G, Ripellino P, Viglietta E, Lapuma D, Uccelli A, Cavalla P, Zaffaroni M, Rinaldi L, Comi C, Novelli F. 2009. IL-17 and IL-22 producing increased in multiple sclerosis relapses are MBP-specific. A multi-centre longitudinal study. *Journal of Neurology* 256: S86-S7
- 162. Almolda B, Costa M, Montoya M, Gonzalez B, Castellano B. 2011. Increase in Th17 and T-reg lymphocytes and decrease of IL22 correlate with the recovery phase of acute EAE in rat. *PLoS One* 6: e27473
- 163. Kreymborg K, Etzensperger R, Dumoutier L, Haak S, Rebollo A, Buch T, Heppner FL, Renauld JC, Becher B. 2007. IL-22 is expressed by Th17 cells in an IL-23-dependent fashion, but not required for the development of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 179: 8098-104
- 164. Xu W, Li R, Dai Y, Wu A, Wang H, Cheng C, Qiu W, Lu Z, Zhong X, Shu Y, Kermode AG, Hu X. 2013. IL-22 secreting CD4+ T cells in the patients with neuromyelitis optica and multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* 261: 87-91
- 165. Zhou C, Zhang B, Yang Y, Zhang H. 2013. Comment and reply on:Emerging role of Th22 and IL-22 in multiple sclerosis, an autoimmune disease in the central nervous system. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* 17: 1381-2
- 166. Miller SD, Karpus WJ, Davidson TS. 2010. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the mouse. *Curr Protoc Immunol* Chapter 15: Unit 15 1
- 167. Miller SD, Karpus WJ. 2007. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the mouse. *Curr Protoc Immunol* Chapter 15: Unit 15 1
- 168. Andersson A, Karlsson J. 2004. Genetics of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the mouse. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)* 52: 316-25
- 169. Coyle PK. 1996. The neuroimmunology of multiple sclerosis. *Adv Neuroimmunol* 6: 143-54

- 170. Sadovnick AD, Baird PA, Ward RH. 1988. Multiple sclerosis: updated risks for relatives. *Am J Med Genet* 29: 533-41
- 171. Wang Y, Marling SJ, Zhu JG, Severson KS, DeLuca HF. 2012. Development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in mice requires vitamin D and the vitamin D receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109: 8501-4
- 172. Smolders J, Menheere P, Kessels A, Damoiseaux J, Hupperts R. 2008. Association of vitamin D metabolite levels with relapse rate and disability in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* 14: 1220-4
- 173. McFarland HF, Martin R. 2007. Multiple sclerosis: a complicated picture of autoimmunity. *Nat Immunol* 8: 913-9
- 174. Steinman L. 2001. Multiple sclerosis: a two-stage disease. Nat Immunol 2: 762-4
- 175. Fletcher JM, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Tubridy N, Mills KH. 2010. T cells in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Clin Exp Immunol* 162: 1-11
- 176. Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. 2009. IL-17 and Th17 Cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 27: 485-517
- Bitsch A, da Costa C, Bunkowski S, Weber F, Rieckmann P, Bruck W. 1998.
 Identification of macrophage populations expressing tumor necrosis factor-alpha mRNA in acute multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathol* 95: 373-7
- 178. Mendel I, Kerlero de Rosbo N, Ben-Nun A. 1995. A myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein peptide induces typical chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in H-2b mice: fine specificity and T cell receptor V beta expression of encephalitogenic T cells. *Eur J Immunol* 25: 1951-9
- 179. Weber MS, Benkhoucha M, Lehmann-Horn K, Hertzenberg D, Sellner J, Santiago-Raber ML, Chofflon M, Hemmer B, Zamvil SS, Lalive PH. 2010. Repetitive pertussis toxin promotes development of regulatory T cells and prevents central nervous system autoimmune disease. *PLoS One* 5: e16009
- 180. Becher B, Durell BG, Noelle RJ. 2003. IL-23 produced by CNS-resident cells controls T cell encephalitogenicity during the effector phase of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Clin Invest* 112: 1186-91
- 181. Jiang HR, Milovanovic M, Allan D, Niedbala W, Besnard AG, Fukada SY, Alves-Filho JC, Togbe D, Goodyear CS, Linington C, Xu D, Lukic ML, Liew FY. 2012. IL-33 attenuates EAE by suppressing IL-17 and IFN-gamma production and inducing alternatively activated macrophages. *Eur J Immunol* 42: 1804-14
- 182. Qian G, Qin X, Zang YQ, Ge B, Guo TB, Wan B, Fang L, Zhang JZ. 2010. High doses of alpha-galactosylceramide potentiate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by directly enhancing Th17 response. *Cell Res* 20: 480-91
- 183. Matsushita T, Yanaba K, Bouaziz JD, Fujimoto M, Tedder TF. 2008. Regulatory B cells inhibit EAE initiation in mice while other B cells promote disease progression. J Clin Invest 118: 3420-30
- 184. Zorzella-Pezavento SF, Chiuso-Minicucci F, Franca TG, Ishikawa LL, da Rosa LC, Marques C, Ikoma MR, Sartori A. 2013. Persistent Inflammation in the CNS during Chronic EAE Despite Local Absence of IL-17 Production. *Mediators Inflamm* 2013: 519627
- 185. Eng LF, Ghirnikar RS, Lee YL. 1996. Inflammation in EAE: role of chemokine/cytokine expression by resident and infiltrating cells. *Neurochem Res* 21: 511-25
- 186. Kang Z, Wang C, Zepp J, Wu L, Sun K, Zhao J, Chandrasekharan U, DiCorleto PE, Trapp BD, Ransohoff RM, Li X. 2013. Act1 mediates IL-17-induced EAE pathogenesis selectively in NG2+ glial cells. *Nat Neurosci* 16: 1401-8
- 187. Huppert J, Closhen D, Croxford A, White R, Kulig P, Pietrowski E, Bechmann I, Becher B, Luhmann HJ, Waisman A, Kuhlmann CR. 2010. Cellular mechanisms of IL-17-induced blood-brain barrier disruption. *FASEB J* 24: 1023-34
- 188. Talmadge JE, Twardzik DR. 1991. Role of cytokines in inflammation and autoimmunity. *Agents Actions Suppl* 35: 135-41
- 189. Qu N, Xu M, Mizoguchi I, Furusawa J, Kaneko K, Watanabe K, Mizuguchi J, Itoh M, Kawakami Y, Yoshimoto T. 2013. Pivotal roles of T-helper 17-related cytokines, IL-17, IL-22, and IL-23, in inflammatory diseases. *Clin Dev Immunol* 2013: 968549
- 190. Lee E, Chanamara S, Pleasure D, Soulika AM. 2012. IFN-gamma signaling in the central nervous system controls the course of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis independently of the localization and composition of inflammatory foci. *J Neuroinflammation* 9: 7
- 191. Flugel A, Berkowicz T, Ritter T, Labeur M, Jenne DE, Li Z, Ellwart JW, Willem M, Lassmann H, Wekerle H. 2001. Migratory activity and functional changes of green fluorescent effector cells before and during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Immunity* 14: 547-60
- 192. Sonobe Y, Jin S, Wang J, Kawanokuchi J, Takeuchi H, Mizuno T, Suzumura A. 2007. Chronological changes of CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cell subsets in the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *Tohoku J Exp Med* 213: 329-39
- 193. Rigolio R, Biffi A, Oggioni N, Cavaletti G. 2008. Actively induced EAE in Lewis rats: characterization of spleen and spinal cord infiltrating lymphocytes by flow cytometry during the course of the disease. *J Neuroimmunol* 199: 67-74
- 194. van der Laan LJ, van der Goes A, Wauben MH, Ruuls SR, Dopp EA, De Groot CJ, Kuijpers TW, Elices MJ, Dijkstra CD. 2002. Beneficial effect of modified peptide inhibitor of alpha4 integrins on experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in Lewis rats. *J Neurosci Res* 67: 191-9
- 195. Almolda B, Gonzalez B, Castellano B. 2010. Activated microglial cells acquire an immature dendritic cell phenotype and may terminate the immune response in an acute model of EAE. *J Neuroimmunol* 223: 39-54
- 196. Almolda B, Costa M, Montoya M, Gonzalez B, Castellano B. 2009. CD4 microglial expression correlates with spontaneous clinical improvement in the acute Lewis rat EAE model. *J Neuroimmunol* 209: 65-80
- 197. Almolda B, Gonzalez B, Castellano B. 2011. Antigen presentation in EAE: role of microglia, macrophages and dendritic cells. *Front Biosci* 16: 1157-71
- 198. Reinhardt RL, Kang SJ, Liang HE, Locksley RM. 2006. T helper cell effector fates--who, how and where? *Curr Opin Immunol* 18: 271-7
- 199. Dittel BN. 2008. CD4 T cells: Balancing the coming and going of autoimmunemediated inflammation in the CNS. *Brain Behav Immun* 22: 421-30

- 200. Takatori H, Kanno Y, Chen Z, O'Shea JJ. 2008. New complexities in helper T cell fate determination and the implications for autoimmune diseases. *Mod Rheumatol* 18: 533-41
- 201. Becher B, Durell BG, Noelle RJ. 2002. Experimental autoimmune encephalitis and inflammation in the absence of interleukin-12. *J Clin Invest* 110: 493-7
- 202. Kebir H, Kreymborg K, Ifergan I, Dodelet-Devillers A, Cayrol R, Bernard M, Giuliani F, Arbour N, Becher B, Prat A. 2007. Human TH17 lymphocytes promote blood-brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. *Nat Med* 13: 1173-5
- 203. De Keyser J, Mostert JP, Koch MW. 2008. Dysfunctional astrocytes as key players in the pathogenesis of central nervous system disorders. *J Neurol Sci* 267: 3-16
- 204. Kang Z, Altuntas CZ, Gulen MF, Liu C, Giltiay N, Qin H, Liu L, Qian W, Ransohoff RM, Bergmann C, Stohlman S, Tuohy VK, Li X. 2010. Astrocyterestricted ablation of interleukin-17-induced Act1-mediated signaling ameliorates autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Immunity* 32: 414-25
- 205. Minagar A, Alexander JS. 2003. Blood-brain barrier disruption in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* 9: 540-9
- 206. Koch M, Ramsaransing GS, Arutjunyan AV, Stepanov M, Teelken A, Heersema DJ, De Keyser J. 2006. Oxidative stress in serum and peripheral blood leukocytes in patients with different disease courses of multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Neurology* 253: 483-7
- 207. Kuhlmann CR, Tamaki R, Gamerdinger M, Lessmann V, Behl C, Kempski OS, Luhmann HJ. 2007. Inhibition of the myosin light chain kinase prevents hypoxiainduced blood-brain barrier disruption. *J Neurochem* 102: 501-7
- 208. Lagrange P, Romero IA, Minn A, Revest PA. 1999. Transendothelial permeability changes induced by free radicals in an in vitro model of the blood-brain barrier. *Free Radic Biol Med* 27: 667-72
- 209. Floris S, Blezer EL, Schreibelt G, Dopp E, van der Pol SM, Schadee-Eestermans IL, Nicolay K, Dijkstra CD, de Vries HE. 2004. Blood-brain barrier permeability and monocyte infiltration in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: a quantitative MRI study. *Brain* 127: 616-27
- 210. Schreibelt G, Musters RJ, Reijerkerk A, de Groot LR, van der Pol SM, Hendrikx EM, Dopp ED, Dijkstra CD, Drukarch B, de Vries HE. 2006. Lipoic acid affects cellular migration into the central nervous system and stabilizes blood-brain barrier integrity. *J Immunol* 177: 2630-7
- 211. Gutcher I, Becher B. 2007. APC-derived cytokines and T cell polarization in autoimmune inflammation. *J Clin Invest* 117: 1119-27
- 212. Kennedy KJ, Karpus WJ. 1999. Role of chemokines in the regulation of Th1/Th2 and autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Clin Immunol* 19: 273-9
- 213. Windhagen A, Nicholson LB, Weiner HL, Kuchroo VK, Hafler DA. 1996. Role of Th1 and Th2 cells in neurologic disorders. *Chem Immunol* 63: 171-86
- 214. Kreymborg K, Bohlmann U, Becher B. 2005. IL-23: changing the verdict on IL-12 function in inflammation and autoimmunity. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* 9: 1123-36

- 215. Carrieri PB, Maiorino A, Provitera V, Soscia E, Perrella O. 1992. Cytokines in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol (Napoli)* 14: 333-41
- 216. Amedei A, Prisco D, D'Elios MM. 2012. Multiple sclerosis: the role of cytokines in pathogenesis and in therapies. *Int J Mol Sci* 13: 13438-60
- 217. Weber F, Rieckmann P. 1995. [Pathogenesis and therapy of multiple sclerosis. The role of cytokines]. *Nervenarzt* 66: 150-5
- 218. Navikas V, Link H. 1996. Review: cytokines and the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *J Neurosci Res* 45: 322-33
- 219. Willenborg DO, Staykova MA. 2003. Cytokines in the pathogenesis and therapy of autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 520: 96-119
- 220. Olsson T. 1995. Cytokine-producing cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* 45: S11-5